

Infection Prevention and Control (IPC)

National Clinical Guideline No. 30

SUMMARY May 2023





This National Clinical Guideline has been developed by the Infection and Prevention Infection Prevention and Control Guideline Development Group (GDG).

Using this National Clinical Guideline

This National Clinical Guideline applies to all health and social care workers because the control of healthcare associated infection is everyone's responsibility. It is particularly relevant to Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) Practitioners. IPC Practitioners are those health and social care workers with specific training and expertise in the prevention and control of infection and who provide training, guidance and leadership to others on IPC. Please note: that reference to a document as a source of additional information does not represent an endorsement of the entire document cited as a part of this National Clinical Guideline. This is a summary version of the National Clinical Guideline. Due to size, the full version of the guideline is presented in two volumes. Both volumes should be cross-referenced as needed.

Disclaimer

NCEC National Clinical Guidelines do not replace professional judgment on particular cases or particular circumstances, whereby the clinician or health professional decides that individual guideline recommendations are not appropriate in the circumstances presented. It may also happen that an individual patient declines a recommendation as a course of action in their care or treatment plan. In these circumstances the decision not to follow a recommendation should be appropriately recorded in the patient's healthcare record (individual patient) or elsewhere if the issue is not related to a specific patient.

Users of NCEC National Clinical Guidelines must ensure they have the current version (hardcopy or softcopy) by checking the relevant section in the National Patient Safety Office section of the Department of Health website:

www.gov.ie/clinicalguidelines

Whilst every care has been taken to ensure that all information contained in this publication is correct, the Department of Health cannot accept responsibility for any errors or omissions which may have occurred.

Published by

The Department of Health, Block 1 Miesian Plaza, 50-58 Lower Baggot Street, Dublin 2, D02 XW14, Ireland Tel: +353 (1) 6354000 www.health.gov.ie ISSN 2009-6259 © Department of Health, May 2023

Citation text

Department of Health (2023). NCEC National Clinical Guideline No. 30 Infection Prevention and Control. Available at: http://health.gov.ie/national-patient-safety-office/ncec/

Membership of the Guideline Development Group (GDG)

The GDG was chaired by Professor Martin Cormican, Professor of Bacteriology, University of Galway, formerly Clinical Lead HSE, Antimicrobial Resistance and Infection Control Team (until 30th April 2022).

Membership nominations were sought from a variety of clinical and non-clinical backgrounds. This was to ensure the group was as representative as possible of key stakeholders.

Table 1 Guideline Development Group membership

Name	Job
Professor Martin Cormican (Chairperson)	Prof of G Resi
Dr Eimear Brannigan	Con Lead Tear
Shirley Keane	Неа
Dr Anne Sheahan	Area
Dr Caroline Fielding	Rep of P
Bernie O'Reilly	Volu (PFP
Josephine Galway	Dire
Therese Dalchan	Неа
Helen Murphy	Infe Mar
Carmel Hooton	Surv
Lenora Leonard	Infe repr
Margo Leddy	Неа
Niamh Galvin	HSE
Dr Bernard Murphy	Den
Shane Keane	Prin Hea
Dr Nuala O'Connor (until Oct 2021)	HCA (ICG
Dr Edel Doorley (from Oct 2021)	Gen

title and affiliation

fessor of Bacteriology, School of Medicine, University Galway (former National Clinical Lead Antimicrobial istance and Infection Control (AMRIC))

sultant in Infectious Diseases and National Clinical d, HSE Antimicrobial Resistance and Infection Control m (AMRIC)

ad of Service, AMRIC

a Director of Public Health, Area D

resentative from Faculty of Pathology, Royal College Physicians in Ireland (RCPI)

untary member of Patients For Patient Safety Ireland PSI), and patient representative

ector of Nursing, AMRIC

ad of Service, HSE Acute Operations

ection Prevention and Control Lead Nurse Advisor nager AMR HCAI Health Protection Infection, HPSC

veillance Scientist, SSAI representation

ection Prevention and Control Nurse, IPCI resentative

alth and Safety representative

National Oral Health Office, Dental representative

ntal Council representative

ncipal Environmental Health Officer, Environmental alth representative

AI/AMR GP Lead, Irish College of General Practitioners GP) representative

neral Practitioner Advisor, AMRIC

Marie Philbin	Chief Antimicrobial Pharmacist, AMRIC	
Ann Marie Howard	Occupational Health representative	
Kathryn Hanly	Inspector, Health Information Quality Authority (HIQA) representative	
Dr Jerome Fennell	Consultant Microbiologist, Irish Society Clinical Microbiology (ISCM) representative	
Dr Rob Cunney	Consultant Microbiologist, HSE-HPSC representative	
Marie Cregan	Representative for Patients For Patient Safety Ireland (PFPSI) and Féileacáin	
Marguerite Kelly	IPC Ireland Community representative	
Caroline Conneely	Quality Improvement Division, National Decontamination Safety Programme representative	
Cornelia Stuart (until Oct 2021)	Assistant National Director, HSE Quality & Patient Safety representative	
Mary Mc Kenna (until Oct 2021)	Assistant Director of Nursing (ADON), AMRIC	
Emer O'Donovan (from Oct 2021)	Assistant Director of Nursing, AMRIC	
Gwen Regan (from Oct 2021)	Director of Nursing, IPC Community Healthcare, Quality & Patient Safety Representative	
Margaret Culliton (from Oct 2021)	Project Manager, AMRIC	

Credits

The role of the NCEC is to prioritise, quality assure and recommend clinical guidelines to the Chief Medical Officer for endorsement by the Minister for Health. It is intended through Ministerial endorsement that full implementation of the guideline will occur through the relevant service plans.

The NCEC and the Department of Health acknowledge and recognise the Chair and members of the Guideline Development Group (GDG) for development of the guideline; and the external reviewers for their contribution. The NCEC and Department of Health wish to express thanks and sincere gratitude to all persons contributing to this National Clinical Guideline; especially those that gave their time on a voluntary basis.

Acknowledgments

The Chair of the GDG wishes to acknowledge the following for their particular contribution to the development of this guideline:

• The members of the GDG for their commitment through the development of this particularly important and complex guideline

- Guidelines (2019). The Australian Guidelines for the Prevention and Control of Infection in Healthcare (2019) was updated in 2021 and is available at the following link: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/publications-and-resources/resource-library/australianguidelines-prevention-and-control-infection-healthcare
- and the Implementation Plan
- The Health Protection Surveillance Centre for access to facilities and support
- work on Evidence Review, Budget Impact Analysis and the Implementation Plan
- Those who contributed formal feedback through the public consultation process
- The great many IPC practitioners and other healthcare workers who have informed the development of this guideline through sharing their vast practical experience with the Chair and members of the GDG through questions, conversations and email.

External Review acknowledgement

The following are acknowledged for providing an external review of the guideline:

- Prof. Charles Van der Henst, PhD. Professor. VIB-VUB Group Leader-Microbial Resistance and Drug Discovery Group, Flanders Institute for Biotechnology (VIB), Vrije Universiteit Brussels (VUB)
- Louis Palen, Multi-Site Director, Infection Prevention & Control, Advocate Christ Medical Center, South Suburban Hospital, Trinity Hospital, 4440 W. 95th Street, Oak Lawn, IL 60453. USA

Signed by the Chair(s) Prof. Martin Cormican

• The National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia for permission to use and adapt the Australian Guidelines for the Prevention and Control of Infection in Healthcare (2019) to support development of this guideline. This guideline differs in a number of points from the Australian

 The HSE Antimicrobial Resistance and Infection Control team for their outstanding support for the work of the GDG throughout the process and in particular for work on the Budget Impact Analysis

Health Research Board - Collaboration in Ireland for Clinical Effectiveness Reviews (HRB-CICER) for

Dr. Susanne Surman Lee, BSc, PhD, C Biol, FRSB, FRSPH, FIHEEM, FWMSoc. Director. Legionella Ltd.

Date: 6/5/2023

National Clinical Guidelines

Providing standardised clinical care to patients in healthcare is challenging. This is due to a number of factors, among them diversity in environments of care and complex patient presentations. It is self-evident that safe, effective care and treatment are important in ensuring that patients get the best outcomes from their care.

The Department of Health is of the view that supporting evidence-based practice, through the clinical effectiveness framework, is a critical element of the health service to deliver safe and high quality care. The National Clinical Effectiveness Committee (NCEC) is a Ministerial committee set up in 2010 as a key recommendation of the report of the Commission on Patient Safety and Quality Assurance (2008). The establishment of this Commission was prompted by an increasing awareness of patient safety issues in general and high profile health service system failures at home and abroad.

The NCEC on behalf of the Department of Health has embarked on a quality assured National Clinical Guideline development process linked to service delivery priorities. Furthermore, implementing National Clinical Guidelines sets a standard nationally, to enable healthcare professionals to deliver safe and effective care and treatment while monitoring their individual, team and organisation's performance.

The aim of these National Clinical Guidelines is to reduce unnecessary variations in practice and provide an evidence base for the most appropriate healthcare in particular circumstances. As a consequence of Ministerial mandate, it is expected that NCEC National Clinical Guidelines are implemented across all relevant services in the Irish healthcare setting.

The NCEC is a partnership between key stakeholders in patient safety. NCEC's mission is to provide a framework for national endorsement of clinical guidelines and clinical audit to optimise patient and service user care. The NCEC has a remit to establish and implement processes for the prioritisation and quality assurance of clinical guidelines and clinical audit so as to recommend them to the Minister for Health to become part of a suite of National Clinical Guidelines and standards for improving the quality, safety and cost-effectiveness of healthcare in Ireland. The implementation of these National Clinical Guidelines will support the provision of evidence-based and consistent care across Irish healthcare services.

NCEC Terms of reference

- 1. Provide strategic leadership for the national clinical effectiveness agenda.
- 2. Contribute to national patient safety and quality improvement agendas.
- 3. Publish standards for clinical practice guidance.
- 4. Publish guidance for National Clinical Guidelines and National Clinical Audit.
- 5. Prioritise and quality assure National Clinical Guidelines and National Clinical Audit.
- 6. Commission National Clinical Guidelines and National Clinical Audit.
- 7. Align National Clinical Guidelines and National Clinical Audit with implementation levers.
- 8. Report periodically on the implementation and impact of National Clinical Guidelines and the performance of National Clinical Audit.
- 9. Establish sub-committees for NCEC work streams.
- 10. Publish an annual report.

Table of Contents

Section 1	I. National clinical guideline recommendations	1
1.1	Summary of recommendations	1
1.2	Summary of good practice statements	6
1.3	Summary of statutory requirements	11
Section 2	2: Development of the national clinical guideline	12
2.1	Background	12
	2.1.1 IPC is everybody's business	12
	2.1.2 Basics of IPC: IPC in the healthcare setting	13
	2.1.3 Healthcare associated infection (HCAI)	13
	2.1.4 Standard and transmission-based precautions	20
	2.1.5 Standard Precautions	20
	2.1.6 How standard precautions are implemented	21
	2.1.7 Transmission-based precautions	21
	2.1.8 Types of transmission-based precautions	21
	2.1.9 Strategies for implementing transmission-based precautions	22
	2.1.10 Overview of risk management in IPC	22
	2.1.11 Risk management basics	23
	2.1.12 Case study: Measles virus outbreak	24
	2.1.13 A person centred approach	27
	2.1.14 How does person centred care relate to IPC?	27
	2.1.15 Involving people who use healthcare services in their care	28
2.2	Clinical and financial impact of healthcare associated infection	30
2.3	Rationale for this National Clinical Guideline	31
2.4	Aim and objectives	31
2.5	Guideline scope	31
2.6	Conflict of interest statement	32
2.7	Sources of funding	32
2.8	Guideline methodology	32
2.9	Consultation summary	33
2.10	External review	34
2.11	Implementation	35
2.12	Monitoring and audit	35
2.13	Plan to update this National Clinical Guideline	35
Reference	ies	36

1

National Clinical Guideline recommendations

1.1 Summary of recommendations

Recommendations are based on systematic reviews performed in the preparation of the Australian Guidelines for the Prevention and Control of Infection in Healthcare (2019) or performed in development of this Guideline. Recommendations use the GRADE (Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation) approach providing the evidence to a decision framework. For each recommendation, there is an indication of the strength of the recommendation, reflecting the practical importance of the recommendation and an indication of the strength of the evidence for the recommendation. This approach is used because in some instances there is a near universal consensus that a practice is very important but the evidence base may be limited. This may happen because it is very difficult to design or perform a relevant high-quality study for practical and or ethical reasons. For each recommendation, there is also consideration of the harms and benefits of the intervention.

Please note the 2019 Australian Guidelines were updated in July of 2021 and available at https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/publications-and-resources/resource-library/australianguidelines-prevention-and-control-infection-healthcare

Table 2 Summary of recommendations

No.	Section	Recommendation	*Grade/level
1	Hand hygiene	Routine hand hygiene is performed according to the World Health Organisation technique:	Strong recommendation, strong evidence
		 Before touching a patient Before a clean or aseptic procedure After body fluid exposure After touching a patient After touching a patient's surroundings Hand hygiene must also be performed before putting on gloves and after the removal of gloves. 	
2	Hand hygiene	Alcohol-based hand rubs that contain between 60% and 80% v/v ethanol or equivalent should be used for all routine hand hygiene practices.	Strong recommendation, strong evidence
3	B Hand hygiene Soap and water should be used for hand hygiene when hands are visibly soiled.		Strong recommendation, strong evidence

4	Hand hygiene	 In the presence of known or suspected <i>Clostridioides difficile</i> and viruses such as norovirus hand hygiene must be performed as follows: If gloves are worn and appear intact on removal, then alcohol-based hand rub remains the agent of choice for hand hygiene If gloves have not been worn, if gloves have been breached or if 	Strong recommendation, weak evidence	٤	8	Emerging disinfection methods	Recommendation AGAINST: Ultraviolet light disinfection, ultraviolet light in combination with sodium hypochlorite and other novel approaches to healthcare environment disinfection are <u>not recommended</u> as routine adjuncts in healthcare facilities as the evidence of added value compared with conventional cleaning and disinfection is not well established.	Strong recommendation, weak evidence
5	Routine	 there is visible contamination of the hands despite glove use, use soap and water to facilitate the mechanical removal of spores After washing, hands should be dried thoroughly with a single-use towel. 	Strong recommendation.		9	Emerging disinfection methods	Recommendation AGAINST: The use of surfaces, fittings or furnishing containing materials with antimicrobial properties in healthcare facilities is <u>not recommended</u> as the evidence of added value compared with conventional cleaning and disinfection is not well established.	Strong recommendation, weak evidence
	management of physical environment	disinfected after spills of blood or other potentially infectious materials.	weak evidence	1	10	Aseptic technique	Sterile gloves are used for surgical aseptic procedures and contact with sterile sites.	Strong recommendation, weak evidence
6	Routine management of physical environment	The use of sodium hypochlorite disinfection in addition to cleaning with a detergent solution is recommended for terminal disinfection of healthcare facilities when terminal disinfection is required for example in seeking to end <i>C. difficile</i> and norovirus outbreaks. Note: terminal disinfection must always occur in the context of a process of terminal cleaning and disinfection.	Strong recommendation, weak evidence		11	Contact precautions	Contact precautions, in addition to standard precautions, are implemented routinely in the acute hospital setting in the presence of known or suspected infectious microorganisms that are spread by direct or indirect contact with the people cared for or their environment. The principles of contact precautions are relevant in all settings but the application must be appropriate to the context in which care is delivered and the needs of the person cared for.	Strong recommendation, weak evidence
	disinfection methods	Hydrogen peroxide vapour disinfection is <u>not recommended</u> as a routine adjunct in healthcare facilities as the evidence of added value compared with conventional cleaning and disinfection is not well established.	weak evidence		12	Contact precautions	Hand hygiene be undertaken and personal protective equipment (PPE) be used as appropriate when healthcare workers have contact with people or with body fluids of people who require contact precautions. This principle is relevant in all settings but the application must be appropriate to the context in which care is delivered.	Strong recommendation, weak evidence

13	Contact precautions	Where possible patient-dedicated equipment or single-use patient-care equipment be used for people on contact precautions. If common use of equipment for multiple people on contact precautions	Strong recommendation, weak evidence	17	Personal protective equipment	PPE including use of gloves, respiratory protection, face protection, aprons or gowns should be used as required by the task being performed and in line with standard or transmission-based precautions.	Strong recommendation, weak evidence
		is unavoidable, clean the equipment, disinfect/sterilise if appropriate and allow it to dry before use on another person.		18	Personal protective equipment	Wear personal protective equipment to protect the face and eyes during procedures that generate splashes or sprays of blood and body substances	Strong recommendation, weak evidence
14	Droplet precautions	Healthcare workers implement droplet precautions when caring for people known or suspected to be infected with microorganisms transmitted by respiratory droplets. This includes wearing a surgical mask in the patient- care environment when a minimum distance from a person on droplet precautions cannot be maintained.	Strong recommendation, weak evidence			into the face and eyes, when entering the patient-care area when an airborne-transmissible infectious microorganism is known or suspected to be present and when entering the patient care area where AGPs associated with an increased risk of infection are performed on people with known or suspected infectious microorganisms normally transmitted	
15	Airborne precautions	Airborne precautions, in addition to standard precautions, are implemented	Strong recommendation, weak evidence	10	Demonderation	by the droplet route.	
	in the pre- infectious transmitte by the air Aerosol G associated infection with know microorga by the dro	in the presence of known or suspected infectious microorganisms that are transmitted from person-to-person by the airborne route and when Aerosol Generating Procedures (AGPs) associated with an increased risk of infection are performed on people with known or suspected infectious microorganisms normally transmitted by the droplet route.	own or suspected isms that are con-to-person and when rocedures (AGPs) creased risk of ed on people ted infectious ally transmitted	19	equipment	 Single-use, gloves are worn for: Each invasive procedure Direct contact with sterile sites and non-intact skin or mucous membranes Any activity that has been assessed as carrying a risk of exposure to blood and body substances. Routine use of gloves for all clinical contact with people cared for is not 	Strong recommendation, weak evidence
16	Airborne precautions	Wear correctly fitted and fit checked respiratory protection (FFP2 respirator)	Strong recommendation, weak evidence			appropriate. Use of gloves is not an alternative to hand hygiene.	
		when an airborne-transmissible infectious microorganism is known or suspected to be present and when entering the patient care area where AGPs associated with an increased risk of infection are performed on people with known or suspected infectious microorganisms normally transmitted by the droplet route.		20	Multidrug-resistant microorganisms	In the acute hospital in-patient setting, contact precautions should generally be applied in caring for people colonised or infected with specific multidrug resistant organisms (MDROs). Contact precautions in this context are generally not appropriate in healthcare settings other than acute hospital in-patient settings.	Strong recommendation, weak evidence

	1		1
21	Facilities design	When determining the number and type of single rooms in a health care facility, project planning teams should consider:	Strong recommendation, weak evidence
		 Trends in disease in the general population and the particular population served 	
		 Demographic trends in the population served 	
		• Specialties of the health care facility	
		Projected changes in future clinical activities.	

1.2 Summary of good practice statements

Practice Statements: Are used for areas which are not covered by a systematic review of the evidence but where the provision of clinical guidance is deemed important. The development of practice statements is primarily based on best practice as advised by expert consensus and aligned with the GRADE approach where available evidence and judgements are considered together. However, a strength is not assigned.

Table 3 Summary of good practice statements

No.	Section	Good Practice Point	*Grade/level
1	Hand hygiene	People who use healthcare services should be educated about the benefits of hand hygiene and how to perform hand hygiene.	Practice statement
2	Hand hygiene	Alcohol-based hand rubs that meet the requirements of European Standard EN 1500 should be used for routine hand hygiene practices.	Practice statement
3	Use and management of sharps, safety engineered devices and medication vials	Dispose of single-use sharps immediately after use into an approved sharps container at the point-of-use. The person who has used the single-use sharp is responsible for its immediate safe disposal. Sharps containers must not be filled above the mark that indicates the maximum fill level.	Practice statement
4	Routine management of physical environment	Maintain a minimum distance of 1m between healthcare service users in the healthcare setting to the greatest extent practical. This reduces the risk of contact and droplet transmission from people with unrecognised contact or droplet transmitted colonisation or infection.	Practice statement

5	Routine management of physical environment	 Clean surfaces routinely as follows: Clean frequently touched surfaces with detergent solution at least daily, when visibly soiled and after every known contamination Clean general surfaces and fittings when visibly soiled and immediately after spillage Ensure that water drainage points in sinks and showers drain freely and completely and that surfaces are kept clean and dry. 	Practice statement
6	Routine management of physical environment	Clean shared clinical equipment that comes into contact with skin, but not with mucosa, blood or body fluids, (that is non-critical equipment in the Spaulding classification) with a detergent solution between use on different people. Disinfection is also appropriate where indicated (for example colonisation with a Multidrug Resistant Organism). Exceptions to this should be justified by risk	Practice statement
		assessment.	
7	Routine management of physical environment	Use surface barriers to protect surfaces such as examination couches that are in contact with a person's skin particularly if those surfaces are likely to be touched frequently with gloved hands during delivery of care or are likely to be contaminated with blood or body fluids or are difficult to clean.	Practice statement
		If release of body fluids is expected, the barrier should be impermeable.	
		If the surface beneath the barrier is dirty or wet on removal of the barrier, the underlying surface should be cleaned and if appropriate disinfected.	
		Exceptions to this should be justified by risk assessment.	

8	RoutinePerform disinfection using a chlorine-basedPractice statementmanagementproduct such as sodium hypochlorite oranother appropriate disinfectant in addition toof physicalanother appropriate disinfectant in addition toenvironmentstandard cleaning in specific circumstances asrequired based on institutional guidance or riskassessment. For routine use, a chlorine-baseddisinfectant should be used with availablechlorine at 1000-parts per million.		12	Outbreak prevention and management	Healthcare service providers should have processes in place to identify people with a communicable infectious disease before attendance/at presentation to the service or as soon as possible after presentation. This is to ensure that such people are cared for with appropriate IPC precautions from the outset. These processes are particularly important during an epidemic/pandemic.	Practice statement		
		it should be a product suitable for use in a healthcare environment.			13	Outbreak prevention and	All residential healthcare facilities (hospitals, residential care facilities, hospices and	Practice statement
9	Droplet precautions	People who require transmission-based precautions (contact, droplet or airborne) should be accommodated in a single-patient room. Where this is not possible, people colonised or infected with the same organism should be cohorted in a discrete area with a minimum distance maintained between the people receiving care in the cohort area. Consistent with the persons care needs, minimise the number of healthcare workers and the time healthcare workers are exposed to an infectious patient.	Practice statement		management	rehabilitation facilities) should have plans in place for detection and management of outbreaks of infectious disease or colonisation with specific MDROs. Outbreaks should be investigated promptly and thoroughly and a brief outbreak report should be prepared at the conclusion of the outbreak. The outcomes of the investigations should be documented. It is good practice to notify the Medical Officer of Health promptly in writing (for example by email) of the closure of the outbreak and to provide a copy of the outbreak report when completed.		
10	Airborne precautions	Place people on airborne precautions in a room with bathroom facilities and with appropriate controlled ventilation or in a room from which air does not circulate to other areas. Exceptions to this should be justified by risk	ole on airborne precautions in a room room facilities and with appropriate ventilation or in a room from which ot circulate to other areas.Practice statements to this should be justified by risk nt.c with the persons care needs it actice to minimise the number of e workers and the time healthcare re exposed within shared airspace son on airborne precautions.		14	Outbreak prevention and management	Consider the use of early bay closures to control known or suspected outbreaks of norovirus and other agents causing gastrointestinal infection rather than immediate closure of entire wards/units.	Practice statement
		assessment. Consistent with the persons care needs it is good practice to minimise the number of healthcare workers and the time healthcare workers are exposed within shared airspace with a person on airborne precautions.			15	Invasive medical devices	Healthcare facilities should develop, implement and review processes to address the insertion, use, maintenance, and removal of invasive medical devices. These processes should be centred on the principles of only using devices if they are deemed essential,	Practice statement
11	Multidrug-resistant microorganisms	Healthcare facilities should operate a surveillance system to monitor healthcare associated infections and specific multidrug resistant microorganisms.	Practice statement				needed and using care bundles while they are in place.	

16	Clinical communication in infection prevention and control	Healthcare facilities should have effective clinical communication processes in place that reflects the NCEC Guidelines NCG No 5 Communication (Clinical Handover) in Maternity Services (DOH 2014) and NCG No 11 Communication (Clinical Handover) in Acute and Children's Hospital Services (DOH 2015). This communication should address infection risks and MDROs and include communication when people are transferring between healthcare facilities and when transferring from healthcare facilities to residential care facilities or to home.	Practice statement
17	Skin disinfection	Skin disinfectants including chlorhexidine should only be used when clinically indicated. Chlorhexidine-containing products, devices or solutions must never be used on or around patients with known chlorhexidine hypersensitivity.	Practice statement
18	Vaccinations	All healthcare workers should be appropriately vaccinated in accordance with current national recommendations (Immunisation Guidelines for Ireland at <u>https://www.rcpi.ie/Healthcare-Leadership/NIAC/Immunisation-Guidelines-for-Ireland</u>).	Practice statement (supported by strong evidence of the effectiveness and safety of vaccines)
19	Avoiding work when potentially infectious for others	Healthcare workers must exclude themselves from work and visitors must stay away from healthcare facilities when they have symptoms of a communicable infectious disease. They must adhere to exclusion periods related to all infectious diseases.	Practice statement
20	Continuous professional development for IPC practitioners	Infection prevention and control professionals should participate in ongoing professional development in order to maintain the necessary expertise to fulfil their role. IPC staff at all levels should be supported to access formal and informal education and training relevant to their role.	Practice statement

1.3 Summary of statutory requirements

Statutory requirement: These are used where there is a requirement in Irish or EU law to comply with the statement. Compliance is a legal obligation.

Table 4 Summary of statutory requirements

No.	Section	Statutory requirement	*Grade/level	
1	Use and management	Statutory requirement SI 135 of 2014	Statutory	
	of sharps, safety engineered devices and medication vials	Healthcare workers should adhere to good devices ation vials Healthcare workers should adhere to good practice related to safe sharp handling including:		
	 Not passing sharps directly from hand to hand 			
		Keep handling to a minimum		
		 Not recapping, bending or breaking needles after use. 		
		Healthcare workers must also comply with all legislation that controls the management of healthcare risk waste (including sharps) and healthcare non risk waste as well as workplace health and safety.		
2	Outbreak prevention and management	Principal Regulation is the Infectious Diseases Regulations 1981 (S.I. No. 390 of 1981). There are subsequent amendments.	Statutory requirement	
		All outbreaks of infectious disease and individual cases of notifiable infections must be notified promptly to the Medical Officer of Health (in the relevant Department of Public Health).		

Supporting Resources

Note: that supporting resources are available for healthcare workers, patients and health facility managers on the Austrailian National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) website (<u>https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/publications-and-resources/resource-library/australian-guidelines-prevention-and-control-infection-healthcare</u>) to support implementation of the Australian Guidelines for the Prevention and Control of Infection in Healthcare (2021). These resources may be helpful for those implementing these Irish NCEC National Clinical Guidelines. Supporting resources specifically relevant to Ireland are also identified in the text.

Development of the National Clinical Guideline

Note on terminology: people who use healthcare services may identify themselves or may be referred to as patients, service users, clients, residents, person, supported individual as appropriate to the setting. The preferences of those who access services and of healthcare workers for the term they consider appropriate to their context is important but it is not practical to use all the terms in each instance in this document. For convenience, the default term generally used in this document is patient. The term service user, is also used in some instances.

2.1 Background

Healthcare associated infections (HCAIs) are infections that can develop either as a direct result of healthcare interventions such as medical or surgical treatment, or from being in contact with a healthcare setting. The term HCAIs includes any infection acquired as a direct result of treatment in any health or social care setting or as a result of healthcare delivery in the community (HIQA 2017).

In order to prevent HCAIs, it is important to understand how infections occur in healthcare settings and then put in place measures to prevent them. If effectively implemented, the two-tiered approach of standard and transmission-based precautions recommended in these guidelines provide high-level protection to patients, healthcare workers and other people in healthcare settings.

While the specific risks of HCAI differ with the setting in which healthcare is delivered the basic principles of IPC apply regardless of the setting.

Effective IPC is central to providing high quality healthcare for people who use healthcare services and a safe working environment for those that work in healthcare settings. It has long been apparent healthcare systems can play a major role in accelerating the spread of newly emerging infection diseases. The COVID-19 pandemic brought the importance of IPC into very sharp focus. However, there is nothing fundamentally new about control of spread of COVID-19 compared with control of many other infections that spread in healthcare systems. Control of spread is based on the same principles and precautions (including standard precautions and transmission-based precautions) used to control other infectious diseases.

This document was developed using Australian Guidelines for the Prevention and Control of Infection in Healthcare (2019) as a starting point. The Australian Guidelines were chosen as a starting point in preference to other documents for a number of reasons. They are in the English language. They were the most up-to-date guidelines available at the time. They are comprehensive. They emphasise a risk based approach to IPC practice. The evidence base for recommendations is clearly set out. There are similarities between the structure of healthcare professions and delivery between Australia and Ireland.

2.1.1 IPC is everybody's business

Understanding the way infectious organisms spread and knowing how and when to apply the basic principles of IPC is critical to the success of an IPC programme. The overall responsibility for the success of the IPC programme rests primarily with the health service management team. Everybody working in a healthcare facility, using services or visiting the facility has a responsibility to support the programme. This includes all staff, people using healthcare services and visitors. Good IPC is essential to good clinical care. IPC services in healthcare facilities exist to support everyone in delivering clean, safe care. IPC is not a discrete set of practices owned by IPC practitioners.

Successful approaches for preventing and reducing harms arising from HCAIs involve applying a riskmanagement framework to manage 'human' and 'system' factors associated with the transmission of infectious microorganisms. This approach ensures that infectious microorganisms, whether common (for example, gastrointestinal viruses), uncommon or associated with a pandemic can be managed effectively. In addition to prevention of transmission of infectious microorganisms the harm associated with transmission can be reduced by reducing the vulnerability of people to infection. Reducing the vulnerability of people using healthcare services to infection includes promoting appropriate vaccination, minimising use of invasive devices as well as personal care, nutrition and mobilisation.

Involving people who use healthcare services and their carers is essential to successful IPC in clinical care. People using healthcare services and those who visit them need to be sufficiently informed to be able to participate in reducing the risk of transmission of infectious microorganisms.

2.1.2 Basics of IPC: IPC in the healthcare setting

Summary

- Infectious microorganisms (also called pathogens) are biological organisms that frequently cause human infection. Infection refers to the invasion of body tissues by a microorganism. and infection may only cause disease in a proportion of people who are infected.
- Colonisation, in this context, refers to a situation in which a microorganism is established on a colonised person to others and or subsequently cause infection in the colonised person.
- Infection that does not result in any illness or disease is referred to as asymptomatic infection. Asymptomatic infection is a common phenomenon with some infectious microorganisms and colonised do not have disease, the organism may spread to others from them.
- Many different infectious microorganisms are present in healthcare settings.
- is commonly referred to as The Chain of Infection, Figure 1.
- People who use healthcare services and healthcare workers are most likely to be sources of
- In healthcare settings, the main ways that infectious microorganisms spread are by contact (direct or airborne transmission.

2.1.3 Healthcare associated infection (HCAI)

Almost all infectious disease is associated with microorganisms including bacteria, virus and protozoa. Notable exceptions are those associated with larger parasites (worms, fleas, lice and scabies mites) and those associated with prion proteins. In general, this document will refer to microorganisms except when reference to other infectious agents is specifically required. The broad principles of IPC that apply are similar for all infectious microorganisms.

Microorganisms may only cause infection in a proportion of people to whom they are transmitted

person's body (for example on skin, mucous membrane or wound) but is not causing infection at that time. Although the person who is colonised is not infected, the organism may spread from a

has become a focus of much attention during the COVID-19 pandemic. Although people who are

For infection to spread, 6 elements are required - causative microorganism (pathogen), reservoir, means of transmission, portal of entry, susceptible host, portal of exit. These 6 elements form what

infectious microorganisms and are also the most common susceptible hosts. Other people visiting and working in healthcare may also be at risk of infection and may be a source of transmission.

and indirect) and by spread through the air. Spread through the air is categorised as either droplet

Microorganisms exist naturally everywhere in the environment. Most microorganisms do not cause infection in otherwise healthy people (for example 'good' bacteria present in the body's normal flora). However, some microorganisms can cause infection and disease in a proportion of otherwise healthy people and almost any microorganism can cause infection in some very vulnerable people.

Microorganisms including bacteria, viruses, fungi and protozoa – can be involved in causing either colonisation or infection, depending on the susceptibility of the host:

- With colonisation, there is a sustained presence of replicating microorganisms on or in the body, without causing infection or disease
- With infection, invasion of infectious microorganisms into the body results in an immune response, with or without symptomatic disease.

Transmission of infectious microorganisms within a healthcare setting requires all of the following elements:

- Causative microorganism (pathogen)
- Reservoir
- Means of transmission
- Portal of entry
- A susceptible host
- Portal of exit. ٠



Figure 1 The chain of infection

Infectious microorganisms transmitted during healthcare come primarily from human sources, including people who use healthcare services, healthcare workers and visitors. Source individuals may be actively ill, may have no symptoms but be in the incubation period of a disease or may be temporary or long-term carriers of an infectious microorganism with or without symptoms. Infectious microorganisms may also reside in the healthcare environment.

Infection is the result of a complex interrelationship between a host and an infectious microorganism. People vary in their response to exposure to an infectious microorganism:

- Some people exposed to infectious microorganisms become infected quite quickly and then become severely ill and may die
- no illness
- Some people may become temporarily or permanently colonised but never become infected
- or weeks or months after they become colonised.

Important predictors of an individual's outcome after exposure to a microorganism or infectious microorganism include:

- Their immune status at the time of exposure. For some infectious microorganisms' previous infection or vaccination may confer lasting immunity (acquired immunity) to infection and or to disease caused by the microorganism (for example measles virus). For other infectious microorganisms lasting immunity does not occur reliably and there may be no vaccine
- therefore the control of spread of the microorganism is more difficult to achieve

In addition to the effect of previous infection and vaccination, immune status depends on other factors and may be compromised by medical treatment (such as immunosuppressive drugs or irradiation). Examples of other factors include:

- The persons age (for example new-borns and older people are generally more susceptible)
- Their general health status (when a person has other underlying disease such as diabetes or is a smoker there are 'comorbidities' that increase risk of infection)
- cause illness)
- Other factors that increase the risk of developing infection (for example undergoing surgery, requiring an indwelling device such as a catheter or remaining in hospital for lengthy periods).

Figure 2 summarises key factors that influence the occurrence of healthcare associated infection in an individual following exposure to a microorganism.

• Some people exposed to infectious microorganisms become infected but have a very mild illness or

Some people develop colonisation at first but go on to develop infection either soon after exposure

In a pandemic of a newly emerged infectious microorganism the fact that no one in the population has acquired immunity means that everyone is vulnerable to infection with that microorganism and

• The virulence of the infectious microorganism (virulence means the ability of the microorganism to



Figure 2 Factors influencing healthcare associated infection

In healthcare settings, the most common susceptible hosts are people who use healthcare services and healthcare workers:

- People who use healthcare services may be exposed to microorganisms from themselves • (endogenous infection). These microorganisms include bacteria residing on their skin, in the respiratory or gastrointestinal tract. They may be exposed to microorganisms from other people, from instruments and equipment, or the environment (exogenous infection). The level of risk of being exposed to microorganisms relates to the healthcare setting (specifically, the type of microorganism's present), the type of healthcare procedures performed, adherence to hand hygiene, vaccination status of people who use healthcare services and staff and the general susceptibility of the person
- Healthcare workers may be exposed to microorganisms from infected or colonised people who use healthcare services, instruments and equipment, or the environment. The level of risk relates to the type of clinical contact healthcare workers have with potentially infected or colonised people, instruments or environments, adherence to standard and transmission-based precautions, and the health status of the healthcare worker (for example immunised or immunocompromised).

In healthcare settings, the main modes of transmission of microorganisms are contact (including blood borne) and spread through the air (droplet and airborne transmission). The modes of transmission vary by type of microorganism. In some cases, the same microorganism may be transmitted by more than one route (for example norovirus, influenza and respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) can be transmitted by contact and droplet routes).

Routes of transmission

Contact transmission

Contact is the most common mode of transmission and usually involves transmission by touch, in particular contact with blood or body substances. Contact may be direct or indirect:

- Direct contact transmission occurs when microorganisms are transferred directly from one person workers body through an unprotected cut in the skin
- Indirect contact transmission involves the transfer of microorganisms through a contaminated intermediate object or person – for example, a healthcare workers hands transmitting microorganisms to a person using healthcare services after touching an infected body site on faeces and then with a person using healthcare services.

Examples of microorganisms transmitted by contact include multidrug resistant organisms (MDROs), Clostridioides difficile (formerly Clostridium difficile), bacteria (Streptococcus pyogenes/Staphylococcus aureus) which can cause highly contagious skin infections (for example impetigo) and mites that cause infestations (for example scabies).

Droplets and aerosols

Respiratory viruses, including SARS-CoV-2 and Influenza virus are present in oral and respiratory fluids. Transmission of these viral agents occurs mainly as a consequence of shedding of virus in liquid respiratory particles into the air from the respiratory tract of an infectious person. These particles are shed when coughing, sneezing, talking and breathing. Respiratory particles shed from the respiratory tract can cause infection if the virus in the particles reaches the respiratory mucosa of a susceptible person. This is much more likely to occur in in indoor and other enclosed settings. The virus can reach the respiratory tract mucosa (eyes, nose and mouth) of a susceptible person in two ways:

- (1) travelling directly through the air to the respiratory tract or
- (2) indirectly as a result of contamination of hands or other surfaces and subsequent transfer to the respiratory mucosa (see above regarding contact transmission).

Transmission directly through the air to the respiratory tract

In relation to IPC theory and practice, direct transmission of infectious microorganisms through the air to the respiratory tract is represented as being comprised of two categories of droplet and airborne transmission.

The standard theoretical background to droplet and aerosol transmission

Within this framework liquid respiratory particles are considered as droplets (larger liquid particles) or aerosols (smaller particles). A cut-off value of 5 microns diameter is applied to differentiate between the two categories. Liquid particles with a diameter of more than 5 microns are considered droplets and those with a diameter of less than 5 microns are considered aerosols.

Droplets are expected to land on surfaces or to fall out of the air on to surfaces, including respiratory mucosa, quickly and within a short distance of where they are generated. Spread in this way is known as droplet transmission.

to another – for example, the blood of a person using healthcare services entering a healthcare

another person, or a healthcare worker coming into contact with fomites (for example bedding) or

Aerosols are expected to stay suspended in the air for an extended period and to travel throughout the air space within which they are generated. Transmission in this way is airborne transmission.

Some infectious agents including (Neisseria meningitidis, Influenza virus, Respiratory Syncytial Virus) are considered as predominantly droplet transmitted and others including Mycobacterium tuberculosis, chickenpox and measles are considered as classically airborne transmitted. Within that standard framework of droplet and airborne transmission the distinction between droplet and airborne transmission is not absolute. While some infectious microorganisms are predominantly droplet transmitted they can be airborne transmitted in some circumstances. One example is when aerosol generating procedures (AGPs) with an increased risk of transmission of infection are performed. AGPs are certain medical procedures for example endotracheal intubation.

The COVID-19 pandemic prompted extensive research and review of evidence regarding the physics of liquid particles generated from the respiratory tract and pathways of direct transmission of virus through the air. Liquid particles are generated from the respiratory tract when breathing, talking, singing, shouting or laughing. It is increasingly accepted that the division of these particles into two discrete categories of droplets and aerosols is not well supported. There is a continuous range in size of particles from those large enough to see with the naked eye to those that are invisible. Some are so small that they are measured in nanometres. How long any individual respiratory particle stays in the air and how far it travels before landing on a surface depends on a range of factors. Amongst other factors, these include the size of the particle, the force with which it is scattered from the nose or mouth and the extent of air movement in the air space. Particles, including those greater than 5 microns in diameter, may be borne upwards on warm, turbulent airflow from exhaled human breath, rather than fall directly to the ground under the influence of gravity. Subsequent intensity of exposure of an individual to particles will depend on the rate of settling of particles and air exchange in the air space both of which are influenced by factors such as prevailing air currents and ventilation. Based on these considerations the distinction between droplets and aerosols and between droplet transmission and airborne transmission may be considered as useful for practical purposes but considered as overlapping categories rather than discrete categories. This is well summarised in a recent paper by Randall and others (Randall et al. 2021). The relative importance long-range airborne transmission of SARS-CoV-2 is the subject of ongoing discussion. However, there is persuasive evidence that transmission over longer distances in smaller respiratory particles occurs in some circumstances (Duval et al. 2022).

The likelihood of transmission of infection from liquid respiratory particles in any setting will depend on the proportion of particles that carry infectious organisms, how much organism they carry and on the quantity of organism required to establish infection (infectious dose). Lower infectious dose is associated with a higher probability of infection at lower intensity of exposure. In the case of SARS-CoV-2, variants emerged in the course of the pandemic (for example alpha and delta variants) that are more readily transmissible than the original form of the virus and that were reported as more commonly associated with transmission in indoor, poorly ventilated places over a longer range. Variation in patterns of transmission between different variants of a specific virus (such as SARS-CoV-2) supports the view that droplet and airborne transmission are overlapping rather than discrete categories.

Although the categories are not discrete IPC practitioners find that the categories of **droplet** and **airborne** transmission have a practical utility for concise communication with healthcare workers regarding the set of IPC precautions recommended for specific circumstances. For this reason, these terms are retained in this guidance. However, it is important that those who use and communicate regarding those categories understand their limitations.

Limitations of categories of droplet and aerosol and of droplet transmission and aerosol transmission

An understanding of transmission of infectious agents through the air should be based on the continuum of risk associated with potentially infectious liquid particles from the respiratory tract. The basis for using the general categories "droplet" and "airborne" categories are more soundly based on observed patterns of transmission rather than on the physics of respiratory particles. Some agents are predominantly transmitted to susceptible people in close proximity to the source. A distance of 1m is widely used as a guide in this context although some authorities use distances of 1.5, 1.8 or 2m. This pattern of relatively short range transmission is generally referred to as droplet transmission. Some agents are readily transmitted to susceptible people anywhere within an enclosed air space that is shared with the source of infection. This pattern of transmission is generally referred to as airborne transmission. Organisms with an airborne pattern of transmission have also been observed to transmit readily to susceptible people who enter the air space soon after the infectious person has vacated the space.

For a susceptible person in shared air space with a person shedding an infectious organism in respiratory particles the risk of transmission through the air is very complex.

Factors influencing the risk are likely to include the following:

- How much infectious organism is being shed by the infectious person
- How infectious the organism is (infectious dose)
- How long the susceptible person is in the shared air space
- How close they are to the nose and mouth of the infectious person
- Their orientation towards the infected person (are they directly facing the infectious person)
- How forcefully the infectious person is scattering respiratory particles
- What barriers (including masks) are in place that impede the particles
- The degree to which air movement and ventilation keep the particles suspended and/or dilute the particles.

Recognising that droplet and airborne transmission are not discrete categories has practical implications in that it points to a general requirement for increased emphasis on capacity for adequate ventilation in healthcare facilities. Any healthcare facility may deal with infectious agents transmitted through the air and infectious people may not always be easy to recognise. Ventilation, either natural ventilation or mechanical ventilation depending on the nature of the healthcare service should be appropriate for the setting. Furthermore, IPC practitioners will frequently need to carry out risk assessments to manage the risk of transmission through the air within the available facilities.

In addition to the typical pattern of transmission associated with the infectious agent (droplet or airborne patterns) the risk assessment will consider:

- The likelihood that infectious people are present • The susceptibility to infection of potentially exposed people The likely intensity of exposure in any given situation

- The available built environment.

In circumstances where transmission of infection through the air is identified as a risk, the following core components for risk reduction should be considered:

- Vaccination of susceptible individuals against the infectious disease when an effective vaccine is available
- Minimise the number of people who share air space with an infectious person by patient placement in a place that supports limiting the number of other people exposed (ideally closed room with controlled ventilation)
- In so far as consistent with good patient care, minimise the duration of exposure of those people who must enter the space where the patient is placed
- Minimise the shedding of microorganisms by the infectious person (anti-infective agents where these are of proven benefit)
- Minimise the scattering of microorganisms by the infectious person (respiratory and cough etiquette and wearing mask if tolerated)
- Maintain as much distance as is reasonably practical while in the shared air space
- Maintain ventilation (often natural, mechanical where required) as much as practical to dilute • infectious particles
- Use of appropriate personal protective equipment including an appropriate face mask.

Some agents are associated with variable or intermediate patterns of spread in different contexts. These can be particularly challenging to manage in terms of assessing and managing the risks in particular circumstances.

In day-to-day practice IPC practitioners may continue to use the terms droplet transmission and airborne transmission as labels for general patterns of transmission but with an awareness of the limitations of these terms and the extent to which patterns of transmission may vary with circumstances and virus variants. In general, where there is doubt, a higher level of transmission-based precautions should apply. This must take account of what is practical within the limits of available facilities although these issues should inform future new building and refurbishment.

2.1.4 Standard and transmission-based precautions

Successful IPC involves implementing work practices that reduce the risk of transmission of microorganisms through a two-tiered approach, including:

- Routinely applying basic IPC strategies to minimise risk to both people who use healthcare services and healthcare workers, such as hand hygiene, respiratory hygiene, appropriate use of personal protective equipment, cleaning and safe handling and disposal of sharps (standard precautions)
- Effectively managing microorganisms where standard precautions may not be sufficient on their own – these specific interventions control infection by interrupting the mode of transmission (transmission-based precautions).

2.1.5 Standard Precautions

All people potentially harbour infectious microorganisms. Standard precautions refer to those work practices that are applied to everyone, regardless of their perceived or confirmed infectious status. Standard precautions ensure a basic level of IPC. Implementing standard precautions as a first-line approach to IPC in the healthcare environment minimises the risk of transmission of microorganisms from person to person, even in high-risk situations.

Standard precautions are used by healthcare workers to prevent or reduce the likelihood of transmission of microorganisms from one person or place to another and to render and maintain objects and areas as free as possible from infectious microorganisms. Guidance on implementing standard precautions is given in Sections 3.1, 3.3, 3.11, 7.2 and 7.3.

2.1.6 How standard precautions are implemented:

- Personal hygiene practices, particularly hand hygiene, aim to reduce the risk of contact transmission of microorganisms (see sections 3.1.1)
- Appropriate use of personal protective equipment, which may include gloves, gowns, disposable and people who use healthcare services to infectious microorganisms (see section 3.3)
- Safe handling and disposal of sharps assist in preventing transmission of blood borne virus to people who use healthcare services and to healthcare workers (see section 3.1.2)
- workers (see sections 3.1.3 and 3.11.1)
- Single use equipment and appropriate reprocessing of reusable equipment and instruments including appropriate use of disinfectants, aims to prevent person to person transmission of microorganisms (see section 3.1.4)
- Practising respiratory hygiene and cough etiquette reduces the risk of transmission of infectious microorganisms spread by droplets and aerosols (see section 3.1.5)
- Aseptic technique aims to prevent microorganisms on hands, surfaces or equipment from being introduced into a susceptible site (see section 3.1.6)
- Appropriate handling and disposal of waste and linen assists in reducing transmission of microorganisms (see sections 3.1.7 and 3.1.8).

2.1.7 Transmission-based precautions

Any IPC strategy should be based on the use of standard precautions as a minimum level of control. Transmission-based precautions are recommended as additional work practices in situations where standard precautions alone may be insufficient to prevent transmission. This includes the use of transmission-based precautions in the event of an outbreak (for example gastroenteritis) to assist in containing the outbreak and preventing further infection.

Transmission-based precautions should be tailored to the particular infectious microorganisms involved and its mode of transmission. This may involve a combination of practices.

Guidance on when and how to implement transmission-based precautions is given in sections 3.2, 3.5 and section 7.3.

2.1.8 Types of transmission-based precautions

 Contact precautions are used when there is a known or suspected risk of direct or indirect alone (see Section 3.2.2).

aprons, masks/face shields and eye protection, aims to prevent exposure of the healthcare worker

• Environmental controls including cleaning and spills management, assist in preventing transmission of microorganisms from the environment to people who use healthcare services and healthcare

transmission of infectious microorganisms that is not effectively contained by standard precautions

- Droplet precautions are used for people who use healthcare services who are known or suspected to be infected with microorganisms transmitted over short distances by large respiratory droplets (see section 3.2.3).
- Airborne precautions are used for people who use healthcare services who are known or suspected to be infected with microorganisms transmitted from person to person by the airborne route and for microorganism transmitted by droplets when aerosol generating procedures (AGPs) associated with an increased risk of infection are performed. (See section 3.2.4).

2.1.9 Strategies for implementing transmission-based precautions:

- HCWs performing an assessment of risk when a person first presents to a service in any setting in order to anticipate and communicate the potential need for transmission-based precautions at every step of subsequent care
- Allocating a single room inclusive of bathroom facilities to any person with a suspected or confirmed infection that requires transmission-based precautions and closing the door (source isolation)
- Placing people colonised or infected with the same infectious microorganism in a room together (cohorting). Note: for this purpose "the same infectious microorganism" means that there is no difference of clinical consequence between the microorganisms. For this purpose, a patient with infection with *M. tuberculosis* fully sensitive to anti-tuberculosis agents does not have "the same organism" as a patient with infection with *M. tuberculosis* resistant to anti-tuberculosis agents.
- Wearing specific personal protective equipment and removal after use
- Providing patient dedicated equipment
- Providing a clean environment and using sodium hypochlorite or other appropriate disinfectant • as required
- Using specific air handling techniques when required
- Restricting the movement of both people who use healthcare services and healthcare workers in so far as possible consistent with meeting care needs.

2.1.10 Overview of risk management in IPC

Summary

- Identifying and analysing risks associated with healthcare is an integral part of successful IPC •
- Adopting a risk-management approach at all levels of the facility is necessary. This task is primarily the responsibility of the facility's management. It requires cooperation between management, healthcare workers and support staff and the support of people using healthcare services and visitors
- Differing types and levels of risk exist in different healthcare settings. In adapting this guidance, • each healthcare facility should conduct its own risk assessment (that is to consider how to avoid, identify, analyse, evaluate and treat risks in that setting) and also refer to discipline-specific guidance where relevant.

2.1.11 Risk management basics

In the context of these guidelines, the principal risk is the possibility for microorganism colonisation or infection in people using healthcare services or healthcare workers arising from activities within a healthcare service. Effective risk management is key for preventing and reducing harm arising from healthcare associated infection.

A successful approach to risk management occurs on many levels within a healthcare service:

- Service/facility wide for example, providing support for effective risk management through an organisational risk-management policy, staff training, follow up of outcomes, monitoring and reporting
- that risks are considered in every situation
- Individual for example, considering the risks involved in carrying out a specific procedure and patients/service users to contribute to risk assessments that relate to their care.

As healthcare settings differ greatly in their day to day function, it is not possible to provide a one size fits all approach to risk management. Even within a single setting (for example primary care), increasingly complex care is delivered by a range of health professionals with diverse qualifications and training. All healthcare services and facilities need to be able to determine the risks in their own context and select the appropriate course of action. Therefore, it is necessary for services and facilities to regularly conduct IPC risk assessments and ensure that all staff understand their responsibility in managing these risks.

The HSE Integrated Risk Management Policy 2017 provides additional information on risk management in the healthcare system in Ireland. https://www.hse.ie/eng/about/who/riskmanagement/riskmanagement-documentation/hse-integrated-risk-management-policy-part-2-risk-assessment-andtreatment.pdf

The risk management process as outlined in the document is summarised below:

- health service/facility, extent of and support for the facility's IPC programme.
- 2. Risk assessment is comprised of three steps:
 - clean safe care. Ideally a risk should be identified before an incident has happened
 - in place to mitigate the risk
 - acceptable it is essential to consider how to treat the risk.
- 3. Risk treatment this is the process of selecting and implementing measures to modify the risk.

Ward, department or practice based – for example, embedding risk management into all policies so

questioning the necessity of the procedure as part of clinical decision making, attending education sessions (for example hand hygiene or respirator fit testing). Note: that it is valuable to support

1. Establishing the context - means defining the external and internal factors that must be considered when managing risk for example key stakeholders, the legal and regulatory framework, type of

(a) Risk identification - a risk is something that may happen that could impact on the delivery of

(b) Risk analysis – is a process that is used to gain a better understanding of the risk identified and the level of risk associated with it. Assessing the level of associated risk takes account of controls

(c) Risk evaluation - this a process to determine if the level of risk is acceptable. If the risk is not

Monitoring and review is an essential component of the risk management process. This ensures that:

- New risks are identified
- Risk assessment is reviewed in the context of data on incidents (if possible)
- Risk treatment is implemented effectively.

Communication and consultation are also key elements of clinical risk management. An interactive exchange of information between management, healthcare workers, people who use healthcare services and other stakeholders provides the basis for increased awareness of the importance of IPC, identification of risks before they arise and prompt management of risks as they occur.

Using an impact table, likelihood scoring and risk matrix as outlined in the HSE Integrated Risk Management Policy may assist with risk analysis and provide input into evaluation and decision making on whether the risks need action and what the most appropriate risk treatment strategies and methods may be.

An important part of reducing risk is the appropriate management and learning from incidents. The HSE Incident Management Framework (2020) provides a comprehensive approach to incident management. https://www.hse.ie/eng/about/who/ngpsd/qps-incident-management/incident-management/hse-2020-incident-management-framework-guidance.pdf

Applying the risk management process

The following case study gives an example of applying the risk-management process in a primary care setting. Case studies giving examples of how to use this process in primary, acute and long-term care settings, including relevant considerations in specific situations are included Appendix 7. While the basic process of risk management applies regardless of setting, all healthcare facilities should develop risk management policies and procedures that are appropriate to the setting.

2.1.12 Case study: Measles virus outbreak

The Department of Public Health inform a general practice of an outbreak of measles. The Department of Public Health will assist the practice with advice about management of potential exposures. Information about the outbreak is communicated to all practice staff.

1. Establish the context

The context is a large general practice in the outer suburbs of Dublin, which caters for a diverse group of patients including disadvantaged groups and many young families.

2. Risk assessment

a) Risk identification

The risk is transmission of measles virus in the practice.

b) Risk analysis

Measles is a highly transmissible infection; routes of transmission include airborne transmission. The degree of risk depends on the number of non-immune patients or staff in the general practice and community, and also the appropriateness of IPC practices in place. There is a risk of transmission of measles, primarily from infectious patients in the waiting room. The infection can be transmitted to any susceptible person breathing the same air as the infectious patient while the patient is present and for up to two hours after the patient has left the area. The infection also has the potential for indirect contact transmission if droplets settle on to surfaces. If appropriate IPC measures are already in place, then the risk may already be adequately addressed (treated).

c) Risk evaluation

If it is assessed as likely that a patient with measles will attend the practice and be in contact with a susceptible person and the consequence of transmission of measles is assessed as moderate to major, this is not an acceptable level of risk and additional risk treatment is required promptly.

3. Risk treatment

Suspected cases and cases of measles should be identified as quickly as possible and be managed from an IPC perspective as infectious cases whilst awaiting laboratory results.

Intermediate responses may include:

- Establish if all staff members are immune to measles
- Placing signs at the entrance to the practice advising people to phone if they suspect they have measles or if they have a skin rash and temperature
- Examine suspected cases in their own home where possible or arrange for them to be seen when the surgery is otherwise empty, for example at the end of a clinical session
- Communicate with the public by local media and or social media and display information for people coming to the practice at reception warning about suspected measles cases
- Identifying and managing any person that presents at the practice with suspected measles or similar symptoms for example suspected cases should avoid the waiting room
- Suspected cases should be given surgical mask to wear and if at all possible taken to a separate room where they can be assessed by staff who are known to be immune to measles. If there is no separate room and they travelled to the surgery by car, it may be possible for them to wait in the car until they are seen
- Perform the consultation in a room which can remain vacant for two hours post consultation with suspected cases
- Identify any known high-risk patients (for example infants and unvaccinated children, immunocompromised patients) who may have an appointment at the general practice and consider potential for exposure
- Respiratory etiquette and hand hygiene can be encouraged through communication / information resources and staff
- Thorough surface and environmental cleaning and disinfection
- Clinically suspected and confirmed cases should be notified to the Medical Officer of Health promptly.

Long-term measures may include:

- precautions
- Review staff vaccination policy and records
- and encouraged to be immunised.

 Providing additional education to staff on measles identification and management including the process for reporting this notifiable disease to the Medical Officer of health and use of airborne

At risk staff who are not known to be immune and have not been vaccinated can be identified

Consider which risks need to be actively managed, how this will be achieved, and prioritise which actions to take based on the impacts. A tabular format for evaluation of risk treatment options such a illustrated in Table 5 below may help to determine the ease and impact of possible strategies when deciding which to implement. Note: that priority must be given to activities that address risks that are high and which could have a potentially catastrophic outcome.

Table 5 Examples of evaluation of risk treatment options

Example	Ease	Analysis	Impact
Ensure all staff have been immunised against measles	Easy	Measles vaccine is highly effective and safe	High
Ensure all staff have been trained in appropriate infection prevention and control including use of appropriate personal protective equipment	Moderate	Good IPC practice helps protect staff from measles and all other infectious disease	High
Clean and disinfect surfaces	Easy	Potential for measles contact transmission if droplets settle on surfaces	High
Isolation of suspected cases and use of surgical mask	Easy	Isolation of suspected case reduces the risk of exposure of others to infectious aerosols. Use of a surgical mask by patient may reduce dispersal of aerosols	High
Provide alcohol-based hand rub (ABHR) in waiting, clinical rooms and consultation rooms	Easy	Shown to improve compliance with hand hygiene, which has an impact on the spread of HCAI	High
Consider if people travelling by car can wait in their car until called to be seen	Easy	May reduce number of people exposed and duration of exposure	High

Monitor and review

- Each clinical suspected and confirmed case of measles identified should be notified to the Medical Officer of Health promptly.
- Monitor and/or follow up with any known at-risk patients for example immunocompromised.
- Provide feedback to staff.

Source: Adapted from Australian Guidelines for the Prevention and Control of Infection in Healthcare (2019).

2.1.13 A person centred approach

Summary

- use healthcare services in their care.
- A person-centred healthcare system is known to be associated with safer and higher quality care.
- A two-way approach that encourages participation by people who use healthcare services is essential to successful IPC.

Person-centred healthcare

Person-centred healthcare is respectful of, and responsive to, the preferences, needs and values of people who use healthcare services. Care of children must facilitate the central role of parents and guardians in their care. People receiving healthcare, and in the case of children, their parents and guardians, increasingly expect to be given information about their condition and treatment options and this extends to their rights and responsibilities as users of healthcare services. The best possible outcomes are more likely where person-centred health care is a priority of the healthcare facility and a strong and consistent effort is made to respect the rights and expectations of people who use healthcare services.

The National Healthcare Charter 2012, You and Your Health Service sets out what patients and families can expect in this regard when using healthcare services in Ireland and what patients and families can do to help the health service deliver more effective and safe services. https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/yourhealthservice/hcharter/

2.1.14 How does person centred care relate to IPC?

The purpose of IPC is to support people's access to appropriate care that is clean and safe. Effective IPC is central to providing high quality person-centred healthcare.

Putting people who use healthcare services at the centre of IPC and enabling them to participate in the care process is not just about explaining the risks of treatments but involves considering the person's needs at every level. This has to be balanced with the requirement to maintain an environment for everyone (other service users and staff) where care can be delivered in a safe manner, which minimises the spread of infection. This ranges from designing the facility to maximise comfort and safety for service users to having a range of processes to engage people in their care. Healthcare workers need to listen and act on feedback from service users as well as provide the person with education and support so that they can be involved in looking after themselves.

To support a two-way approach to IPC and encourage the participation of people using the service in actions to minimise cross-infection or transmission of infectious microorganisms, it is important to:

- programmes
- Familiarise people who use healthcare services with the IPC strategies that are employed in
- and/or surgical treatment

Healthcare services and facilities need to take an organisational approach to involving people who

Take perspectives of people who use healthcare services into account when developing policies and

healthcare facilities to protect them, the people caring for them and the healthcare environment

Discuss with people who use healthcare services the specific risks associated with their medical

- Encourage people who use healthcare services to disclose their health or risk status to healthcare workers or others within the healthcare facility if there is a potential risk or source of infection
- Provide opportunities for people who use healthcare services to identify and communicate risk and encourage them to use feedback procedures for any concerns that they have about IPC practices
- Provide educational materials about IPC using a variety of media (for example posters in waiting rooms, printed material and educational videos)
- Inform people who use healthcare services about the protocols for protecting their privacy and confidentiality.

2.1.15 Involving people who use healthcare services in their care

People who use healthcare services and visitors should be informed of what they can do to prevent the spread of infection and keep themselves safe from infection in healthcare settings. Healthcare organisations should provide specific information to people who use healthcare services to assist them in becoming involved in identifying and reducing risks.

Healthcare workers should, where possible:

- Explain the processes of IPC (for example the importance of hand hygiene, reasons for wearing personal protective equipment (PPE), importance of appropriate handling and disposing of sharps to people who use healthcare services and their carers
- Engage people who use healthcare services and their carers in the decision-making process regarding their care and how it is delivered
- Ensure all people who use healthcare services and their carers are aware that they are welcome to ask questions of healthcare professionals.

Written material (such as brochures and posters) can be used to reinforce verbal discussions with people who use healthcare services as part of their care. This information aims to inform people who use healthcare services, visitors, families and carers about healthcare associated infection, what activities healthcare facilities may have in place to reduce the risk of infections as much as possible and what they, as people who use healthcare services, can do to limit the number of infections. Information for people who use healthcare services is available at www.hse.ie/infectioncontrol. There is also information available on a number of specific microorganisms associated with HCAI. Information developed for patients and service users should be developed with regard to ensuring the materials are accessible to most people. The National Adult Literacy Agency (NALA at https://www.nala.ie) provide support for ensuring that written information is user friendly. Where standardised materials are available at national level it is generally preferable to use those materials to ensure that messages are consistent. A number of such materials are available at https://bit.ly/3CRmRal.

Some examples of the types of information that should be provided to people who use healthcare services are below:

- Wearing of gowns, gloves and masks, when required for the task being performed, is a common part of IPC in healthcare – it is used for everybody's safety. Healthcare workers sometimes use the term PPE for these items
- Healthcare workers should clean their hands before putting on and after removing gowns, gloves and masks. When gloves are required this is always in addition to cleaning hands and not instead of cleaning hands

- when PPE is removed after leaving the patient care area
- Gowns or aprons are used so that the healthcare workers skin or clothing does not become contaminated
- Healthcare workers may wear a mask if there is a risk that they may be exposed to infection mouth (for example the SARS-CoV-2 virus)
- of the person cared for may land in their eye
- could transmit infection
- protect people who use healthcare services and staff from risk of reaction to latex
- IPC practices may change at different times during care depending on the situation at that time
- are using it properly
- and scalpel
- to others who may come across the device during or after a procedure
- Special containers, often called sharp's bins, are used for the disposal of sharp devices
- People who use healthcare services are welcome to ask a healthcare worker about the way in which they are handling or disposing of sharp devices
- them and dispose of them safely.

Outbreak situations may require people who use healthcare services to be aware of changes to IPC activities within the healthcare facility:

- An outbreak means that somebody has noticed that there is or probably is spread of an infectious who have the infection and limiting movements of people around the facility
- Hand hygiene is the most important part of preventing spread in most outbreaks
- If people from a ward/unit who have certain kinds of infection are moving to other parts of a hospital/unit, they may be asked to wear a mask

Items of PPE are used in the patient care area – healthcare workers usually remove the PPE before they leave the area to reduce the risk of spreading infection. There may be some exceptions to this

through the air or if there is risk that they may shed an infectious microorganism from their nose or

Eye protection (eye goggles or face shield) is worn by a healthcare worker in situations where fluid from the person cared for may splash on to their eyes and face or droplets from the nose or mouth

Healthcare workers wear gloves when they will have direct hand contact with blood or body fluid, mucous membranes or wounds or if there is a substantial risk that touching the person cared for

• People who are sensitive or allergic to latex should tell their healthcare workers to ensure that latex containing products are not used. Nitrile gloves are now generally used in Ireland which helps to

People who use healthcare services are welcome to ask a healthcare worker about whether the healthcare worker has performed hand hygiene and if they should be using PPE or whether they

Healthcare workers are at risk of injury and infection when using sharp equipment such as needles

Healthcare workers take steps to handle sharp devices in a way that prevents injury to the user and

People who need to use sharps after going home should check that they have been told how to use

microorganism between people or that more people than is usual are getting a particular type of infection. An outbreak may involve two people or many people. Outbreaks can be associated with any healthcare facility and can cause a lot of service disruption. Staff must act quickly if they know or suspect that there is an outbreak of an infection. Actions may include testing people to see who may be carrying the infectious microorganism, placing people in single rooms or with other people

- People who use healthcare services and who have an infection or are colonised with an infectious microorganism may be asked to avoid or limit movement around the building
- To lower the risk of spread of infectious microorganisms in healthcare facilities, visitors should clean their hands using an alcohol-based hand rub before coming into or leaving the patient care area. In particular circumstances, for example if they are assisting with care of the person, they may also be asked to wear gloves and a disposable apron / gowns
- There may be limits on the number of visitors or children and people at increased risk of infection may be advised not to visit.

2.2 Clinical and financial impact of healthcare associated infection

HCAIs are one or the most common complication affecting people who are hospitalised. As well as causing unnecessary pain and suffering for people using healthcare services and their families, these adverse events prolong hospital stays and are costly to the health system. Based on the 2017 Point Prevalence Survey of HCAI in Ireland slightly more than 1 in 20 of hospitalised patients in Ireland have a HCAI (Murchan *et al.* 2018). Australian data suggest that HCAI is associated with an estimated increase to the cost of a person's admission of 8.6% (*IHPA 2017*).

The impact of preventable healthcare associated infection on individuals is illustrated very well by cases of *S. aureus* blood stream infection associated with use of intravenous catheters. An example of this is a man admitted to hospital for surgery requiring a period of two days for pre-operative imaging and other assessments. He developed a high temperature on his second hospital day and was diagnosed with *S. aureus* blood stream infection originating from the site of an intravenous catheter inserted in his forearm shortly after admission. The catheter had not been used to administer any treatment in the interval between insertion and onset of fever. As a result of the infection he required more than two weeks of intravenous antibiotic treatment in hospital before his surgery could proceed. In addition to the direct suffering related to the infection, a hospitalisation expected to last 5 to 7 days extended to more than 3 weeks creating major challenges for him with respect to family and social commitments and lost time from work. For the healthcare services, a single such incident represents an additional 16 days of in-hospital care plus the cost of additional investigations and treatments related to the management of the infection. Looked at from another perspective an incident such as this represents a lost opportunity to provide essential elective procedures for other people awaiting care since it represents a minimum of 16 lost bed-days.

Many studies have attempted to estimate the financial costs associated with healthcare associated infection. These studies are very context dependent but it is quite clear that the financial impact of healthcare associated infection is very significant in all healthcare systems in which this has been studied. A study in Ireland considered costs associated with *Clostridium difficile* infection in one hospital in 2015. The authors estimated the incremental cost at ξ 5,820 per patient with key cost drivers being cleaning, pharmaceuticals, and length of stay (Ryan *et al.* 2017).

The problem of HCAI is not limited to hospitals. HCAIs can occur in any healthcare setting, including general practice surgeries, dental clinics, residential services for older people and people with disabilities as well as the ambulance service and other settings in which paramedics work. There is evidence to suggest a considerable infection burden exists among long-term care residents in Ireland (HPSC European Point Prevalence Survey HCAI in Long-Term Care Facilities 2017). Any person working in or entering a healthcare facility is at risk of HCAI. It is possible to significantly reduce the number of HCAIs through effective IPC. Clear and authoritative national clinical guidance is important to support healthcare services to keep the number of HCAIs at the lowest practical level. This guideline was developed to meet that requirement.

2.3 Rationale for this National Clinical Guideline

Many HCAIs are preventable. A healthcare system has a duty to prevent HCAIs to the greatest practical extent. Prevention of HCAI is an element in the prevention and control of antimicrobial resistance (AMR). This is reflected in Ireland's second One Health National Action Plan on Antimicrobial Resistance (iNAP2). The surveillance and control of HCAI and of Antimicrobial Resistance more generally is universally accepted at European and global level as critical to the quality and patient safety and sustainability of healthcare delivery.

The purpose of IPC is to support the delivery of appropriate and safe healthcare, including care of those with infectious diseases while avoiding preventable HCAI. Decisions regarding the optimal approach to treatment required in a given situation are made by the treating clinician and the people using healthcare services. IPC then supports the implementation of that treatment decision to the greatest extent practical and with the least practical risk to people using healthcare services and staff. Good IPC practice therefore is an enabler of appropriate care. IPC must not become and must not be perceived to be a process that creates barriers to appropriate placement and care although in some circumstances IPC may point to the need for additional planning and preparation to minimise risk.

2.4 Aim and objectives

By assisting healthcare workers to improve the quality of the care they deliver, these Guidelines aim to promote and facilitate the overall goal of IPC: the creation of clean and safe healthcare environments through the implementation of evidence-based practices that minimise the risk of transmission of infectious microorganisms.

2.5 Guideline scope

This Guideline represents a national approach to IPC, focusing on core principles and priority areas for action. As this document provides overall guidance on infection prevention and as such it encompasses, amongst other things, control of Meticillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) and *Clostridioides difficile*. Therefore, it will replace pre-existing pathogen-specific national IPC guidelines including Prevention and Control of Meticillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) NCEC National Clinical Guideline No. 2 (2013) and Surveillance, Diagnosis and Management of *Clostridium difficile* Infection in Ireland NCEC National Clinical Guideline No. 3 (2014). However, some pathogen specific content in certain existing guidelines that has not yet been incorporated into this document may remain relevant.

These guidelines provide a basis for healthcare workers and healthcare facilities to develop detailed protocols and processes for IPC specific to local settings where they are required to address specific needs at the service level. However, hospitals and other services providers are advised that investing time and resources in developing site specific IPC guideline documents that reiterate or reformat this document should not be done routinely and should be limited to situations in which the site specific document adds additional value.

The approach taken in this document is underpinned by a risk-management framework to ensure the basic principles of IPC can be applied to a wide range of health and social care settings. This includes hospitals and community healthcare services including GP surgeries, dental clinics, community pharmacies, vaccination services, residential services for older people and people with disabilities, home care and ambulance services. The level of risk of HCAI differs according to the different types of services.

The evidence base for the IPC guidelines is drawn predominantly from the acute-hospital setting. There is generally less evidence available for other health services settings. The recommendations should be read in the context of the evidence base. Some recommendations in this guideline may not be applicable in all settings. When implementing these recommendations all healthcare facilities need to consider the risk of HCAI and implement the guideline according to their specific setting and circumstances and advice on the practical application of the recommendations. Case studies giving examples of risk assessments have been included to help illustrate how these recommendations can be applied to different settings.

The Guidelines make reference to but do not include detailed information on:

- The reprocessing of reusable medical instruments or devices
- Hospital hotel services such as food services, laundry services or waste disposal
- Comprehensive information on many specific infectious diseases
- Health facility design and engineering
- Workspace health and safety
- Pandemic planning.

Target Audience

The Guidelines are for use by all those working in healthcare - this includes healthcare workers, healthcare students, management and support staff. They are also relevant to people using healthcare services. Sections of particular relevance to people using healthcare services are highlighted as such in the text.

2.6 Conflict of interest statement

The guideline development process followed the conflict of interest policy set out by NCEC. All members of the GDG were required to complete a Conflict of Interest (CoI) Declaration on appointment to the group, and on an annual basis, which were managed by the Chair. There were no conflicts of interest stated.

2.7 Sources of funding

No external funding was received for the development of this guideline. The Budget Impact Analysis conducted by the Health Research Board-Collaboration in Ireland for Clinical Effectiveness (HRB-CICER) and the work to support development of an Implementation Plan was funded by the Department of Health. HSE-AMRIC and HPSC who supported the GDG are funded by the Health Service Executive (HSE).

2.8 Guideline methodology

This guideline was developed by taking the Australian Guidelines for the Prevention and Control of Infection in Healthcare (2019) as a starting point. Almost all of the 21 recommendations in the Guideline are based on the recommendations in that Guideline with no change or with editorial changes to fit the context in Ireland. In those cases the evaluation of the evidence presented in the Australian Guidelines has been accepted as the basis for the recommendation.

The recommendations in the Australian Guideline, and by extension in this guideline, are based on systematic reviews, with the GRADE (Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation) approach providing the evidence to decision framework. This supported the structure and wording of each recommendation. The recommendation has an accompanying strength reflecting the quality of the evidence and additional factors relating to the harms and benefits of the intervention.

The Australian Guideline uses the following terms -

Strong Recommendation: Confident that the desirable effects of adherence to a recommendation outweigh the undesirable effects. Overall the recommendation is based on high quality evidence and is strongly recommended for implementation.

and

Weak/Conditional Recommendation: Concludes that the desirable effects of adherence to a recommendation probably outweigh the undesirable effects. Overall the recommendation is based on supportive evidence and a strong theoretical rationale and is recommended for implementation.

The GDG in Ireland agreed that healthcare workers may be inclined to view a weak recommendation as indicating that the GDG was suggesting that there was substantial individual or institutional discretion regarding the adherence to the recommendation. For that reason, the GDG in each case makes a distinction between the strength of the evidence (which follows the Australian Guideline grading) and the strength of the recommendation reflecting the consensus view of the GDG regarding the importance of adherence to the recommendation. In general, the GDG took the view that it could give a strong recommendation based on established international and experience although indicating that the evidence base for the recommendation is weak at present.

Recommendation 21 which relates to Facilities Design is based on a systematic review prepared by HRB-CICER which is provided as an annex to this guideline document.

The response to the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in a specific focus on IPC. In response to practitioners requests for support the HSE issued an interim IPC guideline based on work done on developing this guideline up to that point. This represented an opportunity to gain insight into how the main elements of this guideline were likely to be accepted and used by the health and social care services. Informal feedback was that the guideline was used as a desktop reference, that it generally reflected established practice based on international norms and represented a valuable resource as an authoritative reference for practice in Ireland. The volume and detail of feedback received on public consultation (see section 2.9) most likely reflects that the interim guidance document was in daily use and therefore people in the services were taking note of points that required clarification or question.

Two clinical and cost effectiveness systematic reviews and a budget impact analysis were conducted by HRB-CICER. The first systematic review was an update of the Cochrane review of interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations among healthcare workers (to support section 3.8.1 of the clinical guideline). The second was a *de novo* systematic review of the effectiveness of single patient rooms in reducing the incidence of healthcare-associated infection (to inform Recommendation 21). The budget impact analysis focused on quantifying the resource implications of ensuring the ongoing implementation of, and adherence to, the recommendations within the guideline.

2.9 Consultation summary

An advanced draft of this document was made available for public consultation in January 2022. During the consultation period more than 50 individuals or groups provided feedback varying from brief observations on individual points to comprehensive line by line feedback extended in some cases to almost 30 pages of detailed feedback. As discussed in section 2.8 the feedback most likely informed by the practical experience of using the HSE Interim guidance as a desk top reference for more than a year in advance of the public consultation. There was positive feedback on the strong emphasis on risk assessment and a risk based approach to managing risks of HCAI.

A number of points that represent a change in practice or emphasis emerged as a focus for particular attention. These include recommendation 4 that alcohol hand rub is now acceptable for hand hygiene when caring for people with *C. difficile* or norovirus infection. Some concerns were expressed regarding detailed text accompanying recommendation 5 regarding a change in one aspect of the traditional management of spills of blood and body fluids to conform to current WHO guidance. Concerns were also expressed from a number of sources regarding recommendations 7 to 9 against general adoption of emerging disinfection technologies. In the context of the pandemic there was a significant focus in feedback on aspects of transmission though the air (droplet and airborne) and related precautions including appropriate use of personal protective equipment and protection of staff. There was substantial comment in the feedback regarding the challenges of fully implementing this guideline in the context of existing infrastructure challenges and high occupancy. Feedback from people working in community based healthcare and social care services suggested rebalance of the guideline so as to be less hospital focused.

Given the volume of feedback this short summary of main themes represents a subjective assessment by the chair of the GDG of key themes and it cannot reflect all of the issues important to each person or group that contributed to feedback. Inevitably there were differences of emphasis and contrasting opinions in the feedback. All feedback was considered carefully in developing the final document and provided the basis for substantial improvement in the pre-consultation draft document.

2.10 External review

Initially, a small number of individual external reviewers who were recognised as experts were approached with a request to review the document in June to July 2022. This process failed to identify reviewers who were willing to undertake the review. In July 2022 the ESCMID Study Group on Nosocomial Infection (ESNGI) of the European Society for Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases (ESCMID) were asked to issue a request to all members for volunteers who were willing to review the document. Several ESGNI members from Europe, North America and Asia offered to review the document and were provided with copies of the draft document as of June 2022. The reviewers were asked to answer the following questions and to provide their review by early September 2022.

- 1. Has the appropriate evidence been identified and reviewed in line with the scope and clinical questions posed by this guideline?
- 2. Are there specific links between decisions and the available scientific evidence?
- 3. Have the risks and potential harms of recommendations been fully considered in the context of clinical practice?
- 4. Is the guideline clearly written, user friendly and allow for individual clinician decisions?
- 5. Is the guideline suitable for routine use as intended (in so far as you are able to comment on the Irish situation)?
- 6. Are there relevant international or well referenced guidelines (recommendations) on the same topic that these guidelines conflict with, and if yes are the reasons for this justified in the guidelines?

As of September 26th 2022 three external reviewers had responded with reviews. One reviewer expressly answered the six questions posed. The reviewer answered yes to questions one to five and no to question six. The reviewer suggested changes to text in relation to two points. These were addressed. A second reviewer provided positive feedback on the draft guideline with five specific suggestions for improvements. These suggestions were addressed. A third reviewer expressed a number of reservations about aspects of the draft guideline. Specifically the reviewer indicated that there was a lack of clarity as to whether the guideline was focused primarily on meticillin-resistant *S. aureus* and *C. difficile*, suggested greater emphasis on water-borne infection in the healthcare setting and considered that different formatting of the guideline would make it more readable. The reviewer also provided more than 40 individual suggestions for improvement to the draft guideline. Each of the points were addressed in developing the final guideline and in particular the document was revised to avoid any misunderstanding about its scope, additional content was included on water-borne infection. The document was reviewed to improve readability but the overall structure was not changed as the structure conforms to the NCEC template.

2.11 Implementation

The implementation process for this Guideline is somewhat atypical. Although there has been no previous general IPC guideline much of what is recommended in this report is established practice in the healthcare system in Ireland based on application of international guidance and accepted practice. Furthermore, given the necessity to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic, a preliminary version of this guideline was made available as a HSE-Interim Infection Prevention and Control Guideline in mid-2020. Therefore much of what is in this guideline is already widely implemented in whole or in part. The implementation process for this guideline then is primarily to deliver more consistent and more uniform implementation of good IPC practice. Further detail is provided in the Implementation Plan (Appendix 6).

2.12 Monitoring and audit

Monitoring and audit play a central role in ensuring that the recommendations in this guideline are implemented. Many larger health care institutions already have well embedded institutional programmes for audit that address key recommendations including for example many of those recommendations that relate to hand hygiene and cleaning. There is also a national programme for audit of hand hygiene performance. Because of the nature of the recommendations the audits that relate specifically to the recommendations are audits of process. Monitoring of outcomes are also critical to assess if the guidelines overall are being implemented in a way that improves patient care. Within the HSE for example all hospitals are required to report monthly on the incidence of hospital acquired *Staphylococcus aureus* blood stream infection and on healthcare associated *Clostridioides difficile* infection. The HSE has key performance indicators (KPIs) that represent ambitious goals for improvement in these outcomes. When an institution is assessing its implementation of this guidance it should consider both the process audits outlined in Appendix 8 and these and other relevant indicators of outcome.

2.13 Plan to update this National Clinical Guideline

This guideline will be due for update 2 years after the date of initial publication.

References

Aiello AE, Larson EL. What is the evidence for a causal link between hygiene and infections? The Lancet Infectious Diseases 2002; 2:103-110

Amoureux L, Riedweg K, Chapuis A *et al.* Nosocomial infections with IMP-19 producing Pseudomonas aeruginosa linked to contaminated sinks, France. Emerging Infect Dis 2017;23:304-307

Anonymous. Workbook for designing, implementing and evaluating a sharps injury prevention programme Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2008).

Antimicrobial Resistance and Infection Control Implementation Team. Infection control guiding principles for buildings acute hospitals and community healthcare settings. HSE 2020. https://www.hse.ie/eng/about/who/healthwellbeing/our-priority-programmes/hcai/resources/general/infection-control-guiding-principles-for-buildings-acute-hospitals-and-community-healthcare-settings.pdf

Association of Surgical Technologists. Guideline Statement for the Implementation of the neutral zone in the perioperative environment. 2013.

https://www.ast.org/uploadedFiles/Main_Site/Content/About_Us/Guideline_Neutral_Zone.pdf (accessed 29 December 2020)

Australasian Health Infrastructure Alliance. Australasian Health Facility Guidelines: Part D- Infection Prevention and Control. Australian Health Infrastructure Alliance. 2016

Bearman G, Bryant K, Leekha S *et al.* Healthcare personnel attire in non-operating-room settings. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2014; 35:107-121

Bearman GM, Marra AR, Sessler CN *et al*. A controlled trial of universal gloving versus contact precautions for preventing the transmission of multidrug-resistant organisms. American Journal of Infection Control 2007;35:650-655.

Beltrami EM, Kozak A, Williams IT *et al.* Transmission of HIV and hepatitis C virus from a nursing home patient to a health care worker. American Journal of Infection Control. 2003;31:168-175

Beswick AJ, Fry C, Bradley CR *et al.* Automated room decontamination: report of a Healthcare Infection Society Working Party. J Hosp Infect 2022;24:SO195-6701(22)00011-1

Bhalla A, Pultz NJ, Gries DM *et al.* Acquisition of nosocomial pathogens on hands after contact with environmental surfaces near hospitalised patients. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2004;25:164-167.

Booth WC, Colomg GC, Williams JM. The craft of research (second edition). Wayne C. Booth 1995

Boyce JM, Pittet D. Guideline for hand hygiene in health-care settings: Recommendations of the healthcare infection control practices advisory committee and the IPAC/SHEA/APIC/IDSA hand hygiene task force. American Journal of Infection Control 2002:30:S1-46

Brady M, Oza A, Cunney R and Burns K. Attributable mortality of hospital-acquired bloodstream infections in Ireland. Journal of Hospital Infection 2017;96:35-41

Brass P, Hellmich M, Kolodziej L *et al.* Ultrasound guidance versus anatomical landmarks for internal jugular vein catheterisation. The Cochrane Library 2015

Brennan S, McDonald S, McKenzie J, Cheng A. Systematic review of novel disinfection methods to reduce infection rates in high risk hospitalised populations. Cochrane Australia. 2017(a)

Brennan S, McDonald S, McKenzie J, Cheng A. Systematic review of antimicrobial surfaces to reduce infection rates in hospitalised populations. Cochrane Australia. 2017 (b)

British Columbia Ministry for Health. Best Practice Guidelines for Cleaning, Disinfection and Sterilisation in Health Authorities. December 2011. https://www.health.gov.bc.ca/library/publications/year/2011/Best-practice-guidelines-cleaning.pdf

Brooks SE, Veal RO, Kramer M *et al.* Reduction in the incidence of Clostridium difficile-associated diarrhoea in an acute care hospital and skilled nursing facility following replacement of electronic thermometers with single-use disposables. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 1992;13:98-103

Calfee DP, Farr BM. Infection control and cost control in the era of managed care. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2002;23:407-410

Casey AL, Worthington T, Lambert PA *et al.* A randomised, prospective clinical trial to assess the potential infection risk associated with the PosiFlow[®] needless connector. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2003;54:288-293

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Workbook for designing, implementing and evaluating a sharps injury prevention programme (2008). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2008

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; Guidelines for the prevention of intravascular catheterrelated infections (2011).Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2011

Chambers A, Mustard CA, Etches J. Trends in needlestick injury incidence following regulatory changes in Ontario Canada (2004-2012): an observational study. BMC Health Services Research 2015;15:127

Chaudhury H, Mahmood A, Valente M. Advantages and disadvantages of single-versus multipleoccupancy rooms in acute care environments: a review and analysis of the literature. Environment and Behavior. 2005;37(6):760-86.

Cholley P, Thouverez M, Talon D. The role of water fittings in intensive care rooms as reservoirs for the colonisation of patients with Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Intensive Care Medicine 2008;34:1428-1433

Christiansen KJ, Tibbett PA, Beresford W *et al.* Eradication of a large outbreak of a single strain of vanB vancomycin-resistant enterococcus faecium at a major Australian teaching hospital. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2004;25:384-390.

Conway-Morris A, Sharrocks K, Bousfield R et al. The removal of airborne SARS-CoV-2 and other microbial bioaserosols by air filtration on COVID-19 surge units. medRxiv preprint doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.09.16.21263684; this version posted September 22, 2021.

Cosgrove SE, Carmeli Y. Studies of bloodstream infection outcomes: reading between the lines. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology 2003;24:884-886

Cruickshank M, Duguid M. Antimicrobial stewardship in Australian hospitals. Australian Commission on Safety & Quality in Health Care. 2011

Cruickshank M, Ferguson J. Reducing harm to patients from healthcare associated infection: the role of surveillance. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. 2008

Dalton KR, Waite KB, Ruble K et al. Risks associated with animal-assisted intervention programs: A literature review. Complement Ther Clin Pract 2020;39:101145

Dalziel C. Standard infection control precautions- Literature review. Routine cleaning of the care environment. Health Protection Scotland. 2017. https://hpspubsrepo.blob.core.windows.net/hpswebsite/nss/2610/documents/1 sicp-lr-cleaning-v3.1.pdf

Dancer SJ. Mopping up hospital infection. Journal of Hospital Infection. 1999.43:85-100

Dancer SJ. Importance of the environment in meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: the case for hospital cleaning. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2008;8:101-113

Decker BK, Palmore TN. The role of water in healthcare-associated infections. Current Opinions in Infectious Diseases. 2013;26:345-351

De Geyter D, Blommaert L, Verbraeken N et al. The sink as a potential source of transmission of carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae in the intensive care unit. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control 2017;6-24

Department of Health. Irelands national action plan on antimicrobial resistance. 2017. https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/ec1fdf-irelands-national-action-plan-on-antimicrobialresistance-2017-2020/

Department of Health. Ireland's second One Health Action Plan on Antimicrobial Resistance 2021-2025 (iNAP2). 2021. https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/d72f1-joint-action-on-antimicrobialresistance/#irelands-second-one-health-action-plan-on-antimicrobial-resistance-2021-2025-inap2

Desenclos J-C, Bourdiol-Razes M, Rolin B et al. Hepatitis C in a ward for cystic fibrosis and diabetic patients possible transmission by spring-loaded finger-stick devices for monitoring of capillary blood glucose. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2001;22:701-707

de Vries FEE, Gans SL, Solomkin JS et al. Meta-analysis of lower perioperative blood glucose target levels for reduction of surgical-site infection. Br J Surg 2017;104:e95-e105.

Do AN, Ciesielski CA, Metler RP et al. Occupationally acquired human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection: national case surveillance data during 20 years of the HIV epidemic in the United States. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2003;24:86-96

Doebbeling BN, Pfaller MA, Houston AK, Wenzel RP. Removal of nosocomial pathogens from the

Donskey CJ. The role of the intestinal tract as a reservoir and as source of transmission of nosocomial pathogens. Clinical Infectious Diseases 2004;39:291-226

hands. Archives of Internal Medicine. 2005;165:302-307

review. BMJ;377:e068743 https://www.bmj.com/content/377/bmj-2021-068743

Egan SA, Corcoran S, McDermott H et al. Hospital outbreak of linezolid-resistant and vancomycinwhole-genome sequencing. Journal of Hospital Infection 2020;105;726-735 (a)

patients in Ireland: high prevalence of the MDR genes optA and poxtA in isolates with diverse genetic backgrounds. J Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 2020;75:1704-1711 (b)

Espin Basany E. Solís-Pena A, Pellino G et al. Preoperative oral antibiotics and surgical-site infections in colon surgery (ORALEV): a multicentre, single-blind, pragmatic, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Gastroentrol Hepatol 2020;5:729-738

Foca M, Jakob K, Whittier S et al. Endemic Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in a Neonatal Intensive Care Unit. New England Journal of Medicine 2000;343:695-700

Gavin NC, Webster J, Chan RJ, Rickard CM. Frequency of dressing changes for central venous access devices on catheter-related infections. The Cochrane Library. 2016

hand rubs. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2006;63:281-288

Gould DJ, Moralejo D, Drey N, Chudleigh JH, Taljaard M. Interventions to improve hand hygiene compliance in patient care. Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2017(9)

Critical Care Medicine 2010;38:657-667

Hahn T, Cummings KM, Michalek AM et al. Efficacy of high-efficiency particulate air filtration in preventing aspergillosis in immunocompromised patients with haematological malignancies. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2002;23:525-531

Hall AJ, Vinjé J, Lopman B et al. Updated norovirus outbreak management and disease prevention guidelines. (USA Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Guidelines). Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 2011;60:1-15

Hall CB, Douglas RG. Modes of transmission of respiratory syncytial virus. The Journal of Pediatrics 1981;99:100-103

- contaminated glove for glove reuse and handwashing. Annals of Internal Medicine. 1988;109:394-398
- Duckro AN, Blom DW, Lyle EA et al. Transfer of vancomycin-resistant enterococci via health care worker
- Duval D, Palmer JC, Tudge I et al. Long distance airborne transmission of SARS-CoV-2: rapid systematic
- resistant ST80 Enterococcus faecium harbouring an optrA-encoding conjugative plasmid investigated by
- Egan SA, Shore AC, O'Connell B et al. Enterococcus faecium and Enterococcus faecalis from hospitalised
- Girard R, Bousquet E, Carre E et al. Tolerance and acceptability of 14 surgical and hygienic alcohol-based
- Gralton J, McLaws M-L: Protecting healthcare workers from pandemic influenza: N95 or surgical masks?

Hand Hygiene Australia. Hand Hygiene Australia Manual (5th Edition); 5 Moments for Hand Hygiene. Hand Hygiene Australia 2018

Harding H, Broom A, Broom J. Aerosol-generating procedures and infective risk to healthcare workers from SARS-CoV-2: the limits of the evidence. J Hospital Infection. 2020;105:717-725

Hayward C, Brown MH, Whiley H. Hospital water as the source of healthcare-associated infection and antimicrobial-resistant organisms. Current Opinion Infectious Disease 2022;35:339-345

Health Care Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee. U.S.A. Centre for Disease Control and Prevention. Environmental infection control in healthcare facilities. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2003:52 (Updated July 2019)

Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA). National Standards for the Prevention and Control of Healthcare Associated Infection in Acute Healthcare Services. 2017.

Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA). National Standards for Infection Prevention and Control in Community Services. 2018.

Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA). Droplet versus contact transmission in spread of SARS-CoV-2. 2020.

Health Protection Surveillance Centre. European Point Prevalence Survey on Healthcare Associated Infections and Antibiotics use in Long-Term Care Facilities National Report –Republic of Ireland 2020

Health Protection Surveillance Centre. Guideline for the emergency management of injuries and postexposure prophylaxis (PEP). <u>https://www.hpsc.ie/a-z/EMIToolkit/</u>

Health Protection Surveillance Centre. National Guidelines for the Prevention of Nosocomial Aspergillosis. 2018

Health Protection Surveillance Centre. Brief evidence summary: Efficacy of visors compared with masks in the prevention of transmission of COVID-19 in non healthcare settings. V1.0. 2020

Health Service Executive and Department of Health. National Healthcare Charter-you and your health service. 2012

Health Service Executive (HSE). HSE Integrated Risk Management Policy.2017

Hedderwick SA, McNeil SA, Lyons MJ, Kaufman CA. Pathogenic organisms associated with artificial fingernails worn by healthcare workers. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2000;21:505-509

Herwaldt LA. Control of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in the hospital setting. The American Journal of Medicine. 1999;106:11-18

Hopman J, Tostmann A, Wertheim H *et al.* Reduced rate of intensive care unit acquired gram-negative bacilli after removal of sinks and introduction of 'water-free' patient care. Antimicrobial Resistance Infection Control 2017;6:59

Hoxha A, Duysburgh E. Mortgat L. Healthcare associated infections in home healthcare: an extensive assessment. Eurosurveillance 2021;26:5

Hutin Y, Hauri A, Chiarello L *et al.* Best infection control practices for intradermal, subcutaneous and intramuscular injections. Bulletin of the World Health Organisation. 2003;81:491-500

Independent Hospital Pricing Authority. Pricing Framework for Australian Public Hospital Services 2018-19. 2017.

Jagger J, Perry J, Gomaa A, Phillips EK. The impact of U.S. policies to protect healthcare workers from bloodborne pathogens. The critical role of safety-engineered devices. Journal of Infection and Public Health. 2008;1:62-71

Jefferson T, DelMar C, Dooely L *et al.* Physical interventions to interrupt or reduce the spread of respiratory viruses: systematic review. BMJ 2009:339

Johnson PD, Martin R, Burrell LJ *et al.* Efficacy of an alcohol/chlorhexidine hand hygiene programme in a hospital with high rates of nososomial methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) infection. The Medical Journal of Australia. 2005;183:509-514.

Kanamori H, Weber DJ, Rutala W. Healthcare Outbreaks Associated With a Water Reservoir and Infection Prevention Strategies. Clinical Infectious Diseases 2016;62:1423-35.

Katzenstein TL, Jørgensen LB, Permin H *et al.* Nosocomial HIV-transmission in an outpatient clinic detected by epidemiological and phylogenetic analyses. AIDS 1999;13 1737-1744

Kramer A, Rudolph P, Kampf G, Pittet D. Limited efficacy of alcohol-based hand gels. The Lancet. 2002; 359:1489-1490

Kotsanas D, Scott C, Gillespie EE *et al.* Whats hanging around your neck? Pathogenic bacteria on identity badges and lanyards. Medical Journal of Australia. 2008;188:5-8

Kokubo S, Horii T, Yonekawa O, Ozawa N, Mukaide M : A phylogenetic-tree analysis elucidating nosocomial transmission of hepatitis C virus in a haemodialysis unit. Journal of Viral Hepatitis 2002;9: 450-454

Lai NM, Taylor JE, Tan K *et al.* Antimicrobial dressings for the prevention of catheter-related infections in newborn infants with central venous catheters: Protocols. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2014

Lambert ML, Suetens C, Savey A. Clinical outcomes of health-care-associated infections and antimicrobial resistance in patients admitted to European intensive care units: a cohort study. Lancet Infect Diseases. 2011;11:30-38

Lankford MG, Collins S, Youngberg L *et al.* Assessment of materials commonly utilised in healthcare environments for bacterial survival and transmission. American Journal of Infection Control. 2006;34:258-263

Larson EL. APIC Guidelines for handwashing and hand antisepsis in healthcare settings. American Journal of Infection Control. 1995;23:251-269

Leas BF, Sullivan N, Han JH *et al.* Environmental cleaning for the prevention of healthcare-associated infections. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (U.S.A): Comparative effectiveness. Technical Briefs. 2015

Leaper DJ, Edmiston CE. WHO: Global guidelines for the prevention of surgical site infection. World Health Organisation. 2016

Li T, Abebe LS, Cronk r, Bartram J. A systematic review of waterborne infections from nontuberculous mycobacteria in health care facility water systems Int J Hyg Environ Health 2017;220:611-620

Li Y, Leung GM, Tang JW *et al.* Role of ventilation in airborne transmission of infectious agents in the built environment- a multidisciplinary systematic review. Indoor Air. 2007;17:2-18

Lopez-Alcalde J, Mateos-Mazon M, Guevara M *et al.* Gloves, gowns and masks for reducing the transmission of meticillin-resistant Stahylococcus aureus (MRSA) in the hospital setting. The Cochrane Library 2015.

Loveday HP, Wilson JA, Golsorkhi M *et al.* EPIC3: National Evidence-Based Guidelines for Preventing Healthcare-Associated Infections in NHS Hospitals in England. Journal of Hospital Infection 2014;86:S1-70

Loveday HP, Wilson JA, Prieto J, Wilcox MH. EPIC3. Revised recommendations for intravenous catheter site care. The Journal of Hospital Infection 2016;92:346-348

Macinga DR, Edmonds SL, Campbell E *et al.* Efficacy of novel alcohol-based hand rub products in-use volumes. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2013;34:299-301

Managram AJ, Horan TC, Pearson ML *et al.* Guideline for prevention of surgical site infection. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Hospital Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee. American Journal of Infection Control 1999;27:97-132

Marra AR, Schweizer ML, Edmond MB. No-touch disinfection methods to decrease multidrugresistant organism infections: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2018;38:20-31

Massari M, Petrosillo N, Ippolito G *et al.* Transmission of Hepatitis C Virus in a Gynecological Surgery Setting. Journal of Clinical Microbiology. 2001;39:2860-2863

Mast ST, Woolwine JD, Gerberding JL. Efficacy of gloves in reducing blood volumes transferred during simulated needlestick injury. Journal of Infectious Diseases 1993;168:1589-1592

Matlow AG, Morris SK. Control of antibiotic-resistant bacteria in the office and clinic. Canadian Medical Association Journal 2009;180:1021-1024

McDonald LC, Gerding DN, Johnson S *et al.* Clinical Practice Guidelines for *Clostridium difficile* Infection in Adults and Children: 2017 Update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) and Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America (SHEA). Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2018;66; Pages e1–e48, https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cix1085

Meddings J, Saint S, Fowler KE *et al.* The Ann Arbor criteria for appropriate urinary catheter use in hospitalised patients: results obtained by using the RAND/UCLA appropriateness method. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2015;162:S1-34

Mehrotra P, Croft L, Day HR et al. Effects of contact precautions on patient perception of care and satisfaction: a prospective cohort study. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2013;34:1087-1093

Menzies D, Fanning A, Yuan L *et al.* Hospital ventilation and risk for tuberculosis infection in Canadian healthcare workers. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2000;133:779-789

Mermel LA. Short-term peripheral venous catheter-related bloodstream infections: A systematic review. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2017;65:1757-1762

Mischke C, Verbeek JK, Saarto A *et al.* Gloves, extra gloves or special types of gloves for preventing percutaneous exposure injuries in healthcare personnel. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2014. Issue 3 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD009573

Mitchell BG, Dancer SJ, Shaban RZ, Graves N. Moving forward with hospital cleaning. American Journal of Infection Control. 2013;41:1138-1139.

Mitchell BG, Ferguson JK, Anderson M *et al.* Length of stay and mortality associated with healthcareassociated urinary tract infections: a multi-state model. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2016;93:92-99

Morgan DJ, Pineles L, Shardell M *et al.* The effect of contact precautions on healthcare workers activity in acute care hospitals. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2013;34:69-73.

Moureau NL, Flynn J. Disinfection of needless connector hubs: clinical evidence systematic review. Nursing Research and Practice. 2015

Murchan S, Murphy H, Burns K. Health Protection Surveillance Centre, Point Prevalence Survey of Hospital Acquired Infections & Antimicrobial Use in European Acute Care Hospitals, May 2017: National Report Ireland.

Murphy CM, Ruscio FD, Lynskey M *et al.* Identification badge lanyards as infection control risk: a cross-sectional observation study with epidemiological analysis. The Journal of Hospital Infection. 2017;96:63-66.

National Clinical Effectiveness Committee. Prevention and Control of Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) National Clinical Guideline No. 2 (2013)

National Clinical Effectiveness Committee. Surveillance, Diagnosis and Management of *Clostridium difficile* Infection in Ireland National Clinical Guideline No. 3 (2014).

National Clinical Effectiveness Committee. Communication (Clinical Handover) in Maternity Services. National Clinical Guideline No. 5 (2014).

National Clinical Effectiveness Committee. Communication (Clinical Handover) in Acute and Children's Hospital Services. National Clinical Guideline No. 11 (2015).

National Health and Medical Research Council (Australia). Australian Guideline for the Prevention and Control of Infection in Healthcare. 2019.

National Health Service Managing the Risk of Sharps Injuries. 2015

National Immunisation Advisory Committee. Immunisation Guidelines for Ireland. https://www.hse.ie/eng/health/immunisation/hcpinfo/guidelines/

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (UK). Surgical site infections: prevention and treatment. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2008.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (UK). Healthcare-associated infections: prevention and control in primary and community care. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2012.

Norman G, Atkinson RA, Smith TA *et al.* Intracavity lavage and wound irrigation for prevention of surgical site infection. Cochrane Systematic Review. 2017. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD012234.pub2

Noskin GA, Bednarz P, Suriano T *et al.* Persistent contamination of fabric-covered furniture by vancomycin-resistant enterococci: implications for upholstery selection in hospitals. American Journal of Infection Control 200;28:311-313

O'Grady NP, Alexander M, Burns LA *et al.* Guidelines for the prevention of intravascular catheter-related infections. Clinical Infectious Diseases 2011;52:162-193.

Olsen RJ, Lynch P, Coyle MB *et al.* Examination gloves as barriers to hand contamination in clinical practice. JAMA Network 1993;270:350-353

Olson RK, Voorhees RE, Eitzen HE *et al.* Cluster of postinjection abscesses related to corticosteroid injections and use of benzalkonium chloride. Western Journal of Medicine. 1999;170:143-147

Perry C, Marshall R, Jones E. Bacterial contamination of uniforms. The Journal of Hospital Infection. 2001;48:238-241

Picheansathian W. A systematic review on the effectiveness of alcohol-based solutions for hand hygiene. International Journal of Nursing Practice. 2004;10:3-9

Pietsch H. Hand antiseptics: rubs versus scrubs, alcoholic solution versus alcoholic gels. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2001;48:S33-36

Pittet D, Hugonnet S, Harbarth S *et. al.* Effectiveness of a hospital-wide programme to improve compliance with hand hygiene. The Lancet 200;356:1307-1312

Pittet D, Boyce JM. Hand hygiene and patient care: pursuing the Semmelweis legacy. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2001;1:9-20

Provincial Infectious Diseases Advisory Committee: Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion. Best practices for infection prevention and control programmes in Ontario: All Healthcare Settings. 3rd Edition. Public Health Ontario. 2012

Public Health England. Eye of the Needle. United Kingdom Surveillance of Significant Occupational Exposures to bloodborne Viruses in healthcare workers. London. 2014

Randall K, Ewing ET, Marr L *et al.* How did we get here: what are droplets and aerosols and how far do they go? A historical perspective on the transmission of respiratory infectious disease. 2021; available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3829873

Reddy VK, Laboie M, Verbeek JH, Pahwa M. Devices with safety features for preventing percutaneous exposure injuries in healthcare staff. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2017. Issue 11.

Resar R, Pronovost P, Haraden C *et al.* Using a bundle approach to improve ventilator care processes and reduce ventilator-associated pneumonia. Joint Commission Journal on Quality and Patient Safety. 2005;31:243-248

Rock C, Small BA, Hsu YJ *et al.* Evaluating accuracy of sampling strategies for fluorescent gel monitoring of room cleaning. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology 2019;40:794-797

Rogues A-M, Verdun-Esquer C, Buisson-Valles I *et al.* Impact of safety devices for preventing percutaneous injuries related to phlebotomy procedures in healthcare workers. American Journal of Infection Control. 2004;32:441-444.

Rosen HR. Acquisition of hepatitis C by a conjunctival splash. American Journal of Infection Control. 1997;25:242-247

Rupp ME, Sholtz LA, Jourdan DR *et al.* Outbreak of bloodstream infection temporally associated with the use of an intravascular needleless valve. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2007;44:1408-1414

Russell D, Beekmann SE, Polgreen PM *et al.* Routine use of contact precautions for methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* and vancomycin-resistant enterococcus: Which way is the pendulum swinging? Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2016;37:36-40

Russo PL, Cheng AC, Richards M *et al.* Healthcare-associated infection in Australia: time for national surveillance. Australian Health Review 2015;39:37-43

Russo PL, Barnett AG, Cheng AC *et al.* Differences in identifying healthcare associated infections using clinical vignettes and the influence of respondent characteristics: a cross sectional survey of Australian infection prevention staff. Antimicrobial Resistance and Infection Control. 2015;4

Russo PL, Chen G, Cheng AC *et al.* Novel application of a discrete choice experiment to identify preferences for a national healthcare-associated infection surveillance programme: a cross sectional study. BMJ Open 2016;6

Rutala WA, Weber DJ & Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee. Guideline for disinfection and sterilisation in healthcare facilities. Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. 2008 (Updated 2019).

Ryan P, Skally M, Duffy F *et al.* Evaluation of fixed and variable hospital costs due to *Clostridium difficile* infection: institutional incentives and directions for future research. J Hosp Infect. 2017;95:415-419.

Samandari T, Malakmadze N, Balter S *et al.* A Large Outbreak of Hepatitis B Virus Infections Associated With Frequent Injections at a Physician's Office. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology 2005;26:745-750

Salgado CD, Chinnes L Paczesny TH, Cantey JR. Health Care Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee. Increased rate of catheter-related bloodstream infection associated with use of a needleless mechanical valve device at a long-term acute care hospital. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2007;28:684-688

Schreiber PW, Kohl TA, Kuster SP *et al.* The global outbreak of *Mycobacterium chimaera* infections in cardiac surgery-a systematic review of whole-genome sequencing studies and joint analysis. Clinical Microbiology and Infection 2021;27:1613-1620

Siegel JD, Rhinehart E, Jackson M, Chiarello L. Health Care Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee. Guideline for isolation precautions: preventing transmission of infectious agents in healthcare settings. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: (2007)

Spaulding EH. Chemical disinfection of medical and surgical materials. In: Lawrence C. Block SS, eds. Disinfection, sterilisation and preservation. Philadelphia: Lea &Febiger,1968:517-31

Stetler HC, Garbe PL, Dwyer DM *et al.* Outbreaks of Group A streptococcal abscesses following diphtheria-tetanus toxoid pertussis vaccination. Paediatrics. 1985;75:299-303

Talbot TR, Stone EC, Irwin K *et al.* Updated recommendations on the use of chlorhexidine-impregnated dressings for prevention of intravascular catheter-related infections. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2017

Tanner J, Melen K. Preoperative hair removal to reduce surgical site infection (Review). Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (2021) DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004122.pub5</u>

Traore O, Hugonnet S, Lubbe J *et al.* Liquid versus get hand rub formulation: a prospective intervention study. Critical Care. 2007;11:R52

Trick WE, Weinstein RA, DeMarais *et al.* Comparison of routine glove use and contact-isolation precautions to prevent transmission of multidrug-resistant bacteria in a long-term care facility. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2004;52:3003-2009.

Trick WE, Vernon MO, Hayes RA *et al.* Impact of ring wearing on hand contamination and comparison of hand hygiene agents in a hospital. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2003; 36:1383-1390

Tuma S, Sepkowitz KA. Efficacy of safety-engineered device implementation in the prevention of percutaneous injuries: A review of published studies. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2006;42:1159-1170

University of South Australia. Literature Review Report –In healthcare settings, what is the current epidemiology and latest evidence on transmission pathways and infection prevention and control measures for norovirus gastroenteritis? National Health and Medical Research Council. 2017

Van De Sande-Bruinsma N, Grundmann H, Verloo D *et al.* European Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance System: Antimicrobial Drug Use and Resistance in Europe. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2008;14:1722-1730

Walker J (Editor). Decontamination in Hospitals and Healthcare. Second Edition. 2019. eBook ISBN: 9780081025666, ISBN: 9780081025659

Webster J, Hood RH, Burridge CA *et al.* Water or antiseptic for periurethral cleaning before urinary catheterisation: a randomised controlled trial. American Journal of Infection Control 2001;29:389-394.

Webster J, Osborne S, Rickard CM, Marsh K. Clinically-indicated replacement versus routine replacement of peripheral venous catheters. (Review). Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2019

Weller B: Bailliere's Nurses Dictionary: For Nurses and Health Care Workers (26th edition) Bailiére Tindall 2014

Whitby M, McLaws M-L, Slater K. Needlestick injuries in a major teaching hospital: The worthwhile effect of hospital-wide replacement of conventional hollow-bore needles. American Journal of Infection Control 2008;36:180-186

Widmer AF, Rotter M, Voss A *et al.* Surgical hand preparation: state-of-the-art. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2010;74:112-122

Wilson J, Wloch C, Saei A *et al.* Inter-hospital comparison of rates of surgical site infection following caesarean section delivery: Evaluation of a multicentre surveillance study. The Journal of Hospital Infection. 2013;84:44-51

Wolkewitz M, Frank U, Philips G *et al.* Mortality associated with in hospital bacteraemia caused by S. aureus: a multistate analysis with follow up beyond hospital discharge. J Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 2011;66:381-386

World Health Organisation. Infection prevention and control during healthcare when coronavirus disease (COVID-19) is suspected or confirmed. Interim Guidance. June 2020.

World Health Organisation. Guide to Implementation: A Guide to the Implementation of the WHO Multimodal Hand Hygiene Improvement Strategy. World Health Organisation 2009

World Health Organisation. WHO surgical site infection prevention guidelines: Web Appendix 7-Summary of a systematic review of the effectiveness and optimal method of hair removal. World Health Organisation. 2016 World Health Organisation. Guidelines on core components of infection prevention and control programmes at the national and acute healthcare facility level. World Health Organisation 2016

World Health Organisation. Global guidelines for the prevention of surgical site infection 2nd ed. 2018 apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/277399

World Health Organisation. Cleaning and disinfection of environmental surfaces in the context of COVID-19. 2020 <u>https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/cleaning-and-disinfection-of-environmental-surfaces-inthe-context-of-covid-19</u>

Wu HM, Fornek M, Schwab KJ *et al.* A norovirus outbreak at a long-term-care facility: the role of environmental surface contamination Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2005;26:802-810

Zachary KC, Bayne PS, Morrison VJ *et al.* Contamination of gown, gloves and stethoscopes with vancomycin resistant enterococci. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. 2001;22:560-564

Zhang EJ, Aitchison LP, Phillips N *et al.* Protecting the environment from plastic PPE Greener manufacture, use and disposal are urgent priorities. BMJ 2021;373:n109 http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ bmj.n109 Published: 19 January 2021

NOTES

| National Clinical Guideline No. 30

NOTES	NO

Infectio	n Prevention	and Control
----------	--------------	-------------

51

OTES



An Roinn Sláinte Department of Health

Department of Health, Block 1, Miesian Plaza, 50-58 Lower Baggot Street, Dublin 2, D02 XW14, Ireland

Tel: +353 1 6354000

٠

Fax: +353 1 6354001 •

www.health.gov.ie